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Narrative report         

After months in the making and much hype, it was finally released in the autumn to restrained 
public acclaim, with all eyes once again focussed on a forty something in the lead role. Yes, 
George Osborne’s autumn statement had much in common with the latest James Bond 
movie. And some might consider that the SPECTRE confronted in the one may be only 
marginally more threatening than the spectre raised for the future of local government finance 
in the other. 
 
The level of reductions proposed and pursued through the budget, will reduce total 
government spending as a proportion of national income to its lowest level since before the 
second world war. The spending review continues to protect health, education and defence, 
with other sectors such as local government having to bear proportionately more than its 
share of constraint. Having already sustained cuts of over 30%, local authority spending is set 
to remain static in cash terms until 2019/20 - a further real terms cut of 7%, with frontloading 
making the next 2 years particularly challenging.  
 
But these figures mask some potentially good news. Councils have been given more freedom 
to address the continuing rise in social care costs by earmarking council tax increases of up 
to 2% to meet them.  Business rates are due to be devolved to councils during the course of 
this parliament. This means that councils will retain in full business rates which currently have 
to be shared with central government. This money will help offset reductions in central 
government grant so that councils will become funded almost entirely by local sources of 
revenue – business rates and council tax. However, central government will retain significant 
control over the levels of local taxation set and reliefs granted. The budget, for example, 
extended small business rate relief, restricting the capacity of local authorities to raise 
revenues, so that whilst councils may have some flexibility to increase revenues and will 
benefit from improved collection rates, they will not have a full “licence to bill”.  
 
The new funding regime is likely to come with new responsibilities as the government extends 
its devolution agenda. This council has so far coped very well with the cuts and service 
changes of the austerity era. This is as a result of shrewd financial management and 
informed forecasting. But each round of cuts becomes successively more challenging. We 
will, by 2019, have taken £112m in real terms from our budget since 2010.  
 
In Autumn 2015, the Council undertook an extensive budget consultation “Your Council, Your 
Voice”, attracting over 20,000 responses and attendees, and helping inform budget choices. 
Public priorities were identified as children at risk and older people needing social care; the 
local environment including roads, highways, street cleaning, parks, open spaces, and 
community safety; development of market towns; service digitisation, and rationalisation of 
buildings. There was support for increases in council tax and other charges to protect these 
services and fund these initiatives. 
 
Accordingly, the council is continuing to focus on appropriate care for vulnerable people, both 
young and old, with prevention and early intervention strategies designed to reduce the need 
for long-term, expensive support packages. The council is also maintaining spending on 
community safety and keeping neighbourhoods clean and attractive, including winter 
maintenance, highways maintenance, street cleaning and parks. 
  
The ongoing period of public sector financial restraint; the increasing number of duties 
imposed on councils, and the increasing demand for key services driven by social and 
demographic factors, means that, for the foreseeable future, the council’s budget will remain 
under pressure. The council remains resolute in its determination to provide the best possible 
services for the people who live, work and play in Calderdale. Budgets may continue to feel 
the strain, but the Council addresses these problems from a healthy financial base. As some 
may put it, budgets might be “shaken, not stirred”! 
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The council maintains a rolling 3 year Medium Term Financial Strategy. This means that 
savings plans are already in place for the next 2 years. The plan is regularly updated to take 
account of the latest information and government announcements through the budget and 
autumn statements. Prudent assessments are made of the inevitable uncertainties arising.  
Members are kept well informed of budget arrangements and issues, and of financial 
performance during the year.  

In the summer of 2015, the council opted for a review as part of the Local Government 
Association's 'corporate peer review' process. This review recognised the three year financial 
plan approach as 'an exemplar for effective financial planning'. It also noted the strength of 
governance arrangements through officer and member working relationships, with effective 
leadership across the organisation.  

The Council has a good track record of managing issues which arise and keeping within 
budget. It has strong financial systems which have been developed in house.    

However, despite the best endeavours of financial planning, occasionally something happens 
which simply cannot have been foreseen. On Boxing Day, there was widespread flooding 
along the valley of the River Calder. This caused extensive damage to property and 
infrastructure in the towns of Brighouse, Elland, Sowerby Bridge, Mytholmroyd, Hebden 
Bridge, and Todmorden. The floods affected over 3,000 homes and businesses and a 
number of families were displaced.  Grants and tax discounts of £3.2m have been made to 
households and businesses in affected areas, providing financial help to cope with the costs 
of cleaning up and safeguarding premises for the future. There was significant damage to a 
number of bridges, tow paths and cycle tracks, and landslips caused damage to some major 
routes.   
The floods caused damage to a number of council services including 8 schools (one of which 
has had to be relocated for 2 terms); a number of adult and child care facilities, and the 
Customer First, Tourist Information Centre and Library base at Hebden Bridge.  

The Council has already approved capital funding to address a major landslip and fund future 
proofing works. We have received funding of £25m from the Department of Transport to 
cover highway and other infrastructure repair costs, and the Government has also promised 
further funding of £35m towards addressing flood issues for the Calder Valley area, and 
progress solutions. The DCLG has also provided £9.9m for recovery costs and support.  

A further £3m has been identified as part of the 2016/17 budget round which will be available 
to address gaps in funding and underpin the longer-term planning required. This has been 
achieved whilst working towards further savings over the period rising to £15.8m p.a. On top 
of existing savings targets from previous budget rounds of £17.8m, in total, gross savings of 
£112m will have been identified in annual budgets by 2018/19 compared to 2010/11. These 
savings, achieved through a mixture of service reviews, collaborative working, demand 
management, income generation and operational efficiencies, have helped to keep council 
tax rises below inflation. 

2016/17 sees only the second council tax rise in seven years. Over that period, council tax 
has risen by less than 5% compared to funding cuts nationally of 30% and general price 
increases of 14%.  
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Figures assume that CPI will increase by 2.0% annually and that council tax will rise by 2% 
plus the social care precept (approximately 3.9% in total) each year from 2017/18. 

The increase in 2016/17 (3.95%) amounts to, on average, 95 pence per property per 
week (though most will actually pay less than this). Half of this will be targeted towards the 
costs of social care following new powers introduced by the Government recognising that 
social care requires additional funding. The remainder will be used specifically to create a 
dedicated fund to aid rebuilding and recovery from the impact of the Boxing Day floods.  
 
The Council is very much a local organisation, run by locally elected representatives, 
delivering local services to local people. Local and national evidence shows that the services 
provided by councils are highly valued by local people, and that most people would prefer to 
see local councils make decisions about the area they live in rather than Westminster. It is, in 
fact, surprisingly big business, comparable in size to many FTSE 250 companies. It employs 
around 7,000 people; has over 100,000 local taxpayers (council tax and business rates), and 
uses assets of £0.5bn to deliver its services. It provides a very wide range of services.  

Directorate Main 
Responsibilities Type of Services Provided 

Adults, Health & 
Social Care 

Adult Social Care A range of day care, home care and residential care 
services and support for older people, and funding 
for clients’ own care service packages. 

Children and 
Young People’s 
Services 

Children and 
Education 
Services 

Early years, schools, youth & adult learning, and 
social care provision covering looked after children 
(including fostering and children’s homes), family 
support, and youth justice. 

Communities & 
Service Support 

Cultural Services Museums, theatres, sport, libraries, parks, tourism. 

Central Services 
to the public 

Administration of council tax and business rate 
services. 

Housing Benefit Payment of means tested benefits for people in 
rented accommodation. 

Environmental  
and Regulatory  
Services 

Crematorium and cemeteries, licensing (alcohol, 
entertainment and taxis), and community safety 
(CCTV). 

Support Services ICT and HR support, the costs of which are fully 
recharged out to front line services. 
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Assessing corporate performance across such a broad range of diverse services is not 
straightforward. The peer review recommended focussing on a small number of corporate 
priorities. These have been identified as growing the economy; reducing inequality, and 
modernising the council. A new, focussed raft of 12 performance measures reflecting these 
priorities has been introduced across the Council. Individual targets are set annually with 
progress reported to cabinet quarterly. During 2015/16, there was improvement in 67% of the 
key performance indicators which have the biggest impact on citizens.  

The capital programme is mainly funded by grant allocations from Central Government. 
These have largely been directed by the Council towards specific work programmes for 
schools, roads, flooding and housing schemes. Additional funding to support the capital 
programme comes from a combination of revenue contributions, borrowing and capital 
receipts from asset disposals. In addition to the above schemes, the current capital 
programme of £127m is delivering the redevelopment of the historic Piece Hall; the building 
of a new central library; rationalisation of town centre office space; a programme of flood 
recovery works, and a major programme of school refurbishment and new builds.  

Commentary on the main financial statements for 2015/16  

Headline figures 
This graph summarises the financial 
gains and losses made by the Council 
during the year. Those due to economic 
performance are shown in the 
surplus/deficit on the provision of 
services. Those due to asset and liability 
valuation changes are shown in other 
comprehensive income and expenditure. 
Typically, Councils will show an 
accounting loss on performance (as 
reflected in this graph) due to the 
difference between the statutory funding 
arrangements in place to pay for Council 
services, and accounting arrangements. 

 

Directorate Main 
Responsibilities Type of Services Provided 

Economy and 
Environment 

Planning Services Building and development control, planning, 
conservation, and economic development. 

Environmental  
and Regulatory  
Services 

Flood defences, waste collection and disposal, 
recycling, food standards and safety, pest control 
and public conveniences. 

Housing Services Housing advice, homelessness, private sector 
renewal. 

Highways, Roads 
& Transportation 

Road maintenance, winter services, road safety, 
street lighting and car parking. 

Chief  Executives 
Office 

Central Services 
to the Public 

Elections and registration costs.  

Public Health Substance misuse, sexual health, obesity, smoking, 
exercise and nutritional programmes. 

Support Services Finance and Legal support, the costs of which are 
fully recharged out to front line services. 

Corporate and 
Democratic  

Committee administration and support; Mayoral 
services 
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Not all the gains and losses impact 
on council taxpayers. A number of 
accounting entries have to be 
stripped out to arrive at the figure 
chargeable for the year under law to 
council taxpayers. The real impact on 
council taxpayers is shown in this 
table. 
 
Balances have been used in the year 
to support services in line with 
budget plans. 
 
 
 
 
The Council’s reserves are split 
between those which are usable 
(planned to pay for services or capital 
investment) and those which are 
unusable. Unusable reserves are 
linked to longer term assets and 
liabilities, and are only realised once 
these are disposed of or settled. 
 
 
 
 
Usable reserves are carried forward 
and planned for future service 
development and capital investment, 
or are held to manage future budget 
strategies and future contingencies 
and uncertainties.  
 
General balances can be used in 
support of council tax levels, or to 
meet unexpected costs. School 
balances belong to individual schools 
and can only be spent by them. The 
large increase in reserves for capital 

schemes and regeneration reflects the funding provided by the Government in response to 
the floods. 
 
There are four main accounting statements: -  

 The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement;  
 The Movement in Reserves Statement;  
 The Balance Sheet, and  
 The Cash Flow Statement.  

 
This section explains what these statements show and the reasons for any major changes in 
the reported figures from last year. There are specific disclosure notes expanding on the 
material figures included in these financial statements and the issues underpinning them.  
 
The main accounting statements are inter-related. Total comprehensive income and 
expenditure is broken down in the Movement in Reserves Statement between usable and 
non-usable reserves. These constitute the net worth of the Council in the Balance Sheet. The 
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reasons for movements during the year in cash (and cash equivalent) balances held on the 
Balance Sheet are shown in the Cash Flow Statement. These inter-relationships are shown 
below. 
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (£'000)

(Surplus)/ Deficit on the Provision of Services 6,937
Other Comprehensive (Income)/Expenditure 19,210
Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 26,147 Movement in Reserves statement

28,127 Effect on usable reserves
-54,274 Effect on unusable reserves

Balance Sheet (Change in Assets less Liabilities) -26,147 Change in Total Net Worth

Change in net assets (excl cash) -27,908
Change in cash and cash equivalents 1,761 Cashflow Statement
Change in net worth -26,147   Net increase / (decrease) in cash

and cash equivalents  
 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) has two parts to it.  
 
The first, the surplus or deficit on provision of services, shows the accounting cost of 
providing services during the year (net £7m). These figures are specified in accordance with 
relevant International Financial Reporting Standards. They do not represent the amount to be 
funded from local taxation. Charges against council tax are specified in regulations, which 
differ from accounting standards. The surplus or deficit on the provision of services is 
reconciled back to the actual charge against council tax (net drawdown from balances of 
£1.485m) in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
The second part, other comprehensive income and expenditure, includes other recognised 
gains and losses during the year due to asset and liability changes rather than economic 
performance. 
 
These figures combined account for the movement during the year in the Council’s net worth 
(as reflected in the Balance Sheet), and are analysed in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement between usable and unusable reserves. 
 
Surplus or deficit on provision of services (SDOPS) 

       
The SDOPS on page 17 shows a deficit of £6.9m compared to the deficit of £62.9m in 
2014/15. There are two main reasons for this decrease. This improvement reflects the fact 
that in the previous year, there were an unusually high number of asset impairments which 
had to be written down against the net cost of services. In the current year, Central 
Government funding as a response to the Boxing Day floods has led to a significant increase 
in Government Grants.  
 
Other comprehensive income and expenditure 

 Remeasurement of the net defined pension liability 
The net pension liability is the difference between the Council’s share of the pension 
fund assets and the underlying commitment to pay retirement benefits. This deficit is a 
snapshot at a point in time. It reflects assumptions in the most recent valuation of the 
pension fund (March 2013). Reported figures reflecting these assumptions can 
produce large changes in years following full revaluations. In between full 
revaluations, changes are usually smaller as experience is assumed to follow the 
assumptions made. 
 
Pension fund assets are invested and earn returns. Returns based on a prescribed 
rate (the discount rate) are credited to the surplus or deficit on the provision of 
services. An adjustment (£17m) reflecting the lower returns actually achieved (0.5%) 
is charged to other comprehensive income and expenditure.  



  Narrative report   9 

Pension liabilities are payable many years into the future. They are discounted back 
(at the prescribed discount rate) to the balance sheet date. The unwinding of this 
discount as benefits become nearer to being paid, is charged to the surplus or deficit 
on the provision of services. This figure is very sensitive to changes in the discount 
rate. During the year, there was a small increase in the discount rate which has led to 
a reduction in pension liabilities. There are other adjustments reflecting the difference 
between assumed salary and pension increases and actual experience, and changes 
in assumed mortality rates. These changes have combined to reduce pension 
liabilities during the year by about 5% (£41m), and are included in other 
comprehensive income and expenditure. The net result on pension plan assets and 
liabilities is that there has been an overall actuarial reduction in the pension fund 
deficit of £24m.  
 

 Fixed Asset Revaluations  
The Council revalues a proportion of its land and buildings each year. During the last 
year, a significant proportion of assets were revalued. Where possible, falling values 
are reflected against previously recognised gains in the revaluation reserve, and 
revaluation increases are charged to the revaluation reserve unless reversing 
impairments previously recognised in the SDOPS. A key determinant of property 
valuations is obsolescence (a measurement of how far an asset falls short of its 
optimum condition). A revised, more representative approach to assessing 
obsolescence rates has led to revaluation net deficits of £61m with £17m charged to 
the SDOPS, and £44m being recognised in the revaluation reserve rather than 
through the SDOPS. 
 

Total net other comprehensive expenditure was £19m. 
 
The Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
This statement shows movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Council, 
analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce 
local taxation) and ‘unusable’ reserves. The movement in comprehensive income and 
expenditure is fully analysed in that separate statement. This includes a full analysis of the 
surplus or deficit on the provision of services, which shows the true economic cost of 
providing the Council’s services. This is different from the statutory amounts required to be 
charged to the general fund balance for council tax setting purposes, and the requisite 
adjustments (relating particularly to charges for pensions and fixed assets) from accounting 
basis to funding basis are separately identified.  After allowing for transfers to and from 
earmarked reserves, there was a drawdown from general fund balances of £1.485m.  

The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the balance sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the Council.  

 

Long term assets is the value of all 
the land, buildings, equipment, roads 
and infrastructure with which the 
Council delivers its services, or which 
it uses to earn rental income. Fixed 
asset values increase as money is 
spent on them and as property 
values increase. Fixed asset values 
decline as assets are put to use 
during the year (depreciated), sold, 
or as property values decrease. 
Overall, property values fell during 
the year by £63m, due in large part 
to applying changes in obsolescence 
rates.   
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Long term liabilities shows the 
value of long term commitments 
which the Council has (mainly 
borrowing to pay for long term 
assets, and pension liabilities for 
employees).  

Long term borrowing has been 
declining for a number of years 
as the Council has, due to the 
low level of returns recently 
available, utilised its own funds 
rather than borrowing externally 
to pay for capital investment. 

The Council has at the same time been pursuing a programme of asset sales which in itself 
reduces the overall asset base and generates funding for investment. The ratio of long term 
borrowing compared to long term assets is low (28%) and shows the Council to be 
performing well. 
 
The net pension liability is a calculation at the balance sheet date of the amount by which 
pension liabilities (the estimated amount due to be paid out over time to scheme members) 
exceeds pension assets (the value of cash and investments held to meet these liabilities). 
Due to the way this is calculated, it can be a very volatile figure (fluctuating between £251m 
and £198m over the last two years). This year, net pension liabilities have fallen by £12m. 
Fuller details are in note 35. 
 
This valuation for accounting purposes differs from that undertaken for funding purposes 
which is used to determine future levels of employer contributions in accordance with the 
funding strategy of the pension fund. The pension fund is evaluated on a triennial basis (last 
done at March 2013). On this basis, the funding position (at 96%) is significantly stronger 
than that identified under accounting standard IAS19 (which typically results in funding cover 
in the range of 65% to 75%). Revisions to the operation of the local government pension 
scheme were introduced nationally in April 2014. These changes are designed to tackle the 
unsustainable scheme deficits which were building up. In future, scheme surpluses and 
deficits will continue to be addressed by fund management and triennial reviews of 
contribution rates in line with the longer term view taken by fund reviews.  
 
Net current assets (often called working capital) is the amount of capital generated or used by 
day to day operations. It is mainly made up of cash and short term investments, debtors and 
creditors. A surplus of £66m (a liquidity ratio of 2 comparing current assets to current 
liabilities) is a healthy sign that the Council can meet its ongoing commitments to fund its day 
to day operations. Working capital can also be used for capital investment without borrowing 
and is therefore a useful tool for managing borrowing and investment levels. Working capital 
increased by £11m during the year.  
 
Net long term assets plus net current assets equals the “net worth” of the Council (the fair 
value of the Council at the balance sheet date). This value is matched by the reserves held. 
Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category of reserves are usable reserves, 
i.e. those reserves that the Council may use to provide services, subject to the need to 
maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for example 
the capital receipts reserve may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt). The 
second category of reserves includes reserves that hold: - 

 the unrealised gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income and 
expenditure where the amounts would only crystallise if assets were sold or the 
pension fund terminated.  

 the required adjustments between the accounting basis and the funding basis under 
regulations for charges made within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement relating to fixed assets, pensions and holiday and similar pay as shown in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement.  

0 50 100 150 200
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31/03/2014

31/03/2013

long term borrowing 
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Usable reserves have risen by £28m, due to the receipt of Government funding towards the 
boxing day floods, and unusable reserves have fallen by £55m (due to property revaluations). 
Usable reserves 
 

 Balances and reserves 
The Council had general balances of £11.157m at the year end. Some of these balances 
(£3.3m) have already been earmarked to support future years’ budgets. The Council aims to 
maintain a minimum level of £5m in balances.  
 
Earmarked reserves are sums set aside for specific purposes to meet items of future 
expenditure. The main Council reserves are for future capital investment, regeneration and 
economic support; service development and improvement; and contingent liabilities. Council 
earmarked reserves have risen by £10m as a result of funding provided by the Government 
towards the floods, and planned increases in investment following revisions to the Council’s 
policy for the annual repayment of debt.  
 

 Capital grants unapplied reserve 
This is the balance of capital grants where any conditions have been met, but where the 
expenditure has not yet been incurred. There has been an increase of £22m which is capital 
grant funding relating to the floods recognised in the year and carried forward to meet capital 
expenditure in future years. 
 

 Capital receipts 
There was a net reduction of £2.0m which was used to finance in year capital expenditure. 

The cash flow statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Council 
during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Council generates and uses cash 
and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing 
activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities indicates the extent 
to which the operations of the Council have been funded by way of taxation, grant income 
and other fees charged by the Council. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash 
outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the Council’s 
future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities show the extent to which 
longer term funding borrowing commitments have been settled or increased, and are 
therefore indicative of claims on future cash flows by providers of capital. 
 
Cash arising from ongoing operations was used to repay long term loans. Cash arising from 
capital activities was temporarily invested short term pending use. Cash balances (which 
include all school bank accounts) increased across the Council by £1.8m. 
  
There are also a number of other statements:- 

 The collection fund shows the transactions of the Council as the billing authority in 
relation to non domestic rates and council tax. 

 The statement of accounting policies explains the basis of the figures in the financial 
statements and the concepts and policies followed which underpin the accounts. 

 The statement of responsibilities for the statement of accounts sets out the respective 
responsibilities of the Council and the Head of Finance. 

 The annual governance statement which sets out the framework to promote efficiency 
and effectiveness and manage risks, no longer forms part of these statements but is 
published as a separate, accompanying document. 

 
It is the main financial statements, disclosure notes and accounting policies which form the 
body of the statement of accounts subject to external audit scrutiny and opinion, and to which 
the statement of responsibilities refers. The narrative report and glossary lie outside the 
scope of such certification. 
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Financial performance during the year 
 
Revenue spending 
 
The Council spends £0.5bn annually to deliver services. This is partly funded by service 
charges and specific grants. The resulting net funding requirement (£0.2bn) is met by general 
Government grants, council tax, retained business rates and general balances. The Council 
sets its budget each February to determine council tax levels for the coming year and the 
extent to which it intends to use balances to support current operations.  
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Performance against budgets is monitored regularly, and formally reported quarterly to 
Cabinet. Scrutiny panels monitor individual directorate performance against budgets in more 
detail. Reports highlight pressure areas and responses to manage those pressures, and give 
Members updated information of forecast available balances and reserves going forward. 
Progress against savings targets is monitored on a quarterly basis through review meetings. 
Final year end outturn reports are presented to Cabinet in June. 

In 2015/16, directorate underspendings of £0.5m were carried forward in reserves to be used 
next year. After allowing for this, balances overall improved by £1.4m compared to budget 
with one service overspending of £0.1m being offset by central improvements of £1.5m 
relating to:-  

 Benefit payments and associated grant claims (£0.7m) 
 Contingency budgets not required (£0.6m) 
 Treasury management and miscellaneous items (£0.2m) 

The table below compares the original budget, the final budget and the actual outturn, and 
shows how these figures are reflected in the financial statements. 
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Decrease / 

(Increase) in 
general fund 

balances

Net 
expenditure      
to be funded

Total 
funding

£'000 £'000 £'000

Original Budget 2,107 161,859 -159,752

Final Budget 2,916 163,064 -160,148

Actual Outturn 1,485 169,697 -168,212

Surplus/Deficit on provision 
of services 6,937 209,369 -202,432

Adjustment for accounting 
entries not chargeable to 
general fund balances

-15,166 -49,386 34,220

Movement on reserves 9,714 9,714 0

Movement in general 
fund balances 1,485 169,697 -168,212

O
U

TT
U

R
N

 
C

O
M

P
A

R
E

D
 T

O
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

 B
U

D
G

E
TS

O
U

TT
U

R
N

 A
S

 S
H

O
W

N
 IN

 
M

O
V

E
M

E
N

T 
IN

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
S

 
S

TA
TE

M
E

N
T

 
 
 
Capital spending and financing 
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Capital expenditure is distinct from the everyday revenue expenditure required to run 
services. It represents investment in items of property, plant and equipment (such as 
buildings, roads, land, and vehicles), the benefits of which last for more than one year. In 
addition to spending £26.7 on its own assets, the Council spent £9.2m on 3rd party assets, 
(mainly grants for private housing adaptations; spending on certain types of school e.g. 
church schools owned by the diocese rather than the Council; and business infrastructure 
support, including superfast broadband).   
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During the year there was spending on rolling programmes for highways (£4.6m) and private 
housing grant and loans (1.6m) in addition to the major investments on:- 

 New primary schools at Heath and at the Halifax High School site. 
 Redevelopment of the historic Piece Hall. 
 Construction of a new central library within the town centre. 
 Refurbishment of Princess Buildings as part of the Town Centre Office Strategy. 
 Commencement of significant repairs to the road and bridge infrastructure as a result 

of the boxing day flood damage. 
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The main source of funding continues to be grants and contributions from the Government 
and other bodies (although this source of funding continues to be cut). There is a limited 
amount of revenue funding (principally from individual schools, and reserves earmarked for 
this purpose), with the remainder of the capital programme being funded by borrowing (either 
from external sources or internal funds), and from capital receipts (the monies generated 
through selling fixed assets).   
 
In addition to funding the capital programme, borrowing also takes place to repay maturing 
loans. The Council’s treasury management policy, which addresses both short term cashflow 
and longer term asset funding requirements, seeks to minimise external debt costs by taking 
account of available internal resources, prevailing interest rates and debt maturity profiles. 
Longer term debt is provided principally through the Government’s Public Works Loans Board 
(PWLB), with shorter term cashflow issues being managed by loans taken out with financial 
institutions and other local authorities via the UK money markets.  
 
Total borrowing liabilities at the 31st March 2016 amounted to £123.0m (a net reduction of 
£16.6m) against long term assets valued at £446.7m.  
 
Other issues during the year 
 
The Council has introduced a revised MRP (minimum revenue provision) policy. This policy 
determines the rate at which debt is repaid. The new policy aligns debt repayments with 
expected asset lives (the previous policy was to write down debt on a 25 year reducing 
balance basis). This change has created savings of £2.7m in the current year, and is 
expected to create significant annual savings until at least 2030. 
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The chancellor’s budget included an announcement that additional funding would be provided 
to ensure that all schools in England will have become an academy, or be in the process of 
converting to academy status, by 2020 (although there is now some uncertainty over this 
requirement). There are currently 29 academies in Calderdale (just over one quarter of all 
schools previously under Council control). One secondary school is working towards 
conversion in 2016. Annual income and expenditure at the school is £3m and it has a balance 
sheet value of £13.3m.  
 
 
Major changes in 2016/17 
 
April 2016 will see the implementation of the new Transport Infrastructure Code. This will 
require all transport infrastructure assets to be valued on a depreciated replacement cost 
basis. Transport infrastructure assets include carriageways; footpaths and cycletracks; 
structures; street lighting; street furniture; traffic management systems, and associated land. 
All these assets are currently valued at depreciated historical cost. Once adopted, the 
standard is expected to have a huge effect on Balance Sheet values and associated 
depreciation charges. It will, however, have no impact on the levels of council tax or business 
rates charged. 
 
 
The Statement of Accounts and other links 
 
Many of the tables and disclosure notes within this document are prescribed by the code of 
practice which local authorities are obliged to follow. For ease of reference, the disclosure 
notes have been grouped under five headings relating to:  

 Key governance issues;  
 Balance Sheet;  
 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement;  
 Technical and other.  
 Accounting policies 

 
A much shorter summarised set of accounts is made available on the website, presenting the 
main statements and financial messages in a more accessible way. 

Councils are large, multi-functional organisations. The processes for determining objectives 
and the systems in place to deliver these are conducted within an overall framework to 
promote efficiency and effectiveness.  This framework is set out in the Annual Governance 
Statement which serves as an annual review of effectiveness and demonstrates the 
management of identified risks.   
 
Copies of both the summary accounts and annual governance statement will shortly be 
available on the Council’s website: http://www.calderdale.gov.uk/council/finances/accounts/2015-
2016/index.html 
 
The website also contains a number of other plans and strategies, such as the medium term 
financial strategy, detailing what the Council plans to do to achieve its ambitions, what 
resources it needs to deploy and how it prioritises the resources it has available. 
 
N BROADBENT  CPFA 
 
HEAD OF FINANCE  
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The Movement in Reserves Statement 

General Earmarked Collection Capital Capital Total Unusable Total
y/e 31st March 2016 Fund GF Fund Adjust Grants Receipts Usable Reserves Net 

Balance Reserves Account Reserve Reserve Reserves Worth
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 1st April 2015 12,642 61,756 1,198 23,981 2,967 102,544 78,215 180,759

Surplus or (deficit) on provision 
of services (accounting basis) -6,937 0 0 0 0 -6,937 0 -6,937

Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 -19,210 -19,210

Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure -6,937 0 0 0 0 -6,937 -19,210 -26,147

Adjustments between 
accounting basis & funding 
basis under regulations (note 30) 15,166 0 -69 22,081 -2,114 35,064 -35,064 0
Net Increase / Decrease 
before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 8,229 0 -69 22,081 -2,114 28,127 -54,274 -26,147

Transfers to / from Earmarked 
Reserves (note 17) -9,714 9,714 0 0 0 0 0 0

Increase / Decrease in Year -1,485 9,714 -69 22,081 -2,114 28,127 -54,274 -26,147

Balance at 31 March 2016 11,157 71,470 1,129 46,062 853 130,671 23,941 154,612

0

Restated General Earmarked Collection Capital Capital Total Unusable Total
y/e 31st March 2015 Fund GF Fund Adjust Grants Receipts Usable Reserves Net 

Balance Reserves Account Reserve Reserve Reserves Worth
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 1st April 2014 10,512 57,187 476 22,565 4,492 95,232 135,955 231,187

Surplus or (deficit) on provision 
of services (accounting basis) -62,923 0 0 0 0 -62,923 0 -62,923

Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,495 12,495

Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure -62,923 0 0 0 0 -62,923 12,495 -50,428
Adjustments between 
accounting basis & funding 
basis under regulations (note 30) 69,622 0 722 1,416 -1,525 70,235 -70,235 0
Net Increase / Decrease 
before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 6,699 0 722 1,416 -1,525 7,312 -57,740 -50,428

Transfers to / from Earmarked 
Reserves (note 17) -4,569 4,569 0 0 0 0 0 0

Increase / Decrease in Year 2,130 4,569 722 1,416 -1,525 7,312 -57,740 -50,428

Balance at 31 March 2015 12,642 61,756 1,198 23,981 2,967 102,544 78,215 180,759  
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The Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 

2014/15 2015/16
Net Net

Expenditure Income Expenditure Service Expenditure Income Expenditure Note
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Continuing operations

6,363 -3,648 2,715 Central services to the public 6,389 -2,713 3,676
22,111 -7,633 14,478 Cultural & Related Services 22,734 -7,036 15,698
22,698 -3,210 19,488 Environmental & Regulation Services 27,266 -4,588 22,678
9,420 -4,015 5,405 Planning Services 12,415 -7,067 5,348

182,827 -138,500 44,327 Children's and Education Services 181,350 -135,364 45,986
26,144 -3,679 22,465 Highw ays, roads and transport services 25,735 -4,098 21,637
77,164 -72,793 4,371 Housing Services 74,668 -70,896 3,772
78,110 -28,490 49,620 Adult Social Care 78,188 -31,895 46,293
10,655 -11,911 -1,256 Public Health 13,493 -13,394 99
3,383 0 3,383 Corporate and democratic core 3,536 0 3,536

931 -1 930 Non distributed costs 901 -1 900
43,367 0 43,367 Impairment of f ixed assets 8,895 0 8,895 25

483,173 -273,880 209,293 Net Cost of Services 455,570 -277,052 178,518 26

Other operating expenditure

456 Parish Precepts 460
-370 Net (Surplus)/Deficit from Trading Operations -115
118 Changes in fair value of held for sale assets 7,961

18,572 (Gain)/loss on disposal of Fixed Assets & Investments 7,442 25
2 Contribution to Housing pooled capital receipts 1

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

-843 Interest and Investment Income -859
8,673 Interest Payable and similar charges 8,675
8,152 Interest on the net defined benefit pensions liability 7,762
-321 Income & expenditure in relation to investment -476

properties, and changes in fair value

Taxation and non specific grant income

-74,301 Council Tax income -75,415
-27,997 Non domestic rates income -27,840
-78,511 Government Grant not attributable to specif ic services -66,058 21

0 Additional grant relating to the Boxing Day f loods -33,119 21

62,923 (Surplus) or deficit on the provision of services 6,937

Other comprehensive income and expenditure
Reclassifiable

-12 (Gains)/losses on the revaluation/disposal of available for sale f inancial assets -3

Non reclassifiable
-56,073 (Surplus) / Deficit arising on the revaluation of non current assets 44,008
43,590 Remeasurement of the net defined benefit pension liability -24,056 34

0 Remeasurement of the PFI scheme liability -739

-12,495 Total other comprehensive (income) and expenditure 19,210

50,428 Total comprehensive (income) and expenditure 26,147  
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The Balance Sheet at 31st March 2016 
31st March 2015 31st March 2016

 £'000 £'000 Note

Long Term Assets
495,123 Property, Plant & Equipment 431,546 5

3,472 Heritage Assets 3,472 7
8,688 Investment Property 8,726 6

97 Intangible Assets 317
871 Long term investments 839 33

1,972 Long term debtors 1,788 33

510,223 TOTAL LONG TERM ASSETS 446,688

Current Assets
72,700 Short term investments 82,300 12

545 Inventories 559
28,085 Debtors 27,200 11
9,331 Cash and cash equivalents 10,665 13

50 Assets held for sale 10
110,711 120,734

Current Liabilities
-427 Cash and cash equivalents - bank overdraft 0 13

-6,421 Short term borrowing -4,221 33
-43,075 Short term creditors -44,963 14
-3,737 Short term provisions -3,718 15
-1,725 Other short term liabilities -1,524 33

-55,385 -54,426

565,549 TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 512,996

Other Liabilities
-1,383 Long term creditors -1,078 33

-793 Provisions   -1,855 15
-91,334 Long term borrowing -78,615 33

-251,113 Net pension liabilities -238,932 34
-40,167 Other long term liabilities -37,904 33

-384,790 -358,384

180,759 TOTAL ASSETS LESS LIABILITIES 154,612

Financed By:-
Usable Reserves

2,967 Usable Capital Receipts Reserve 853 16
23,981 Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve 46,062 16
1,198 Collection Fund Adjustment Account 1,129 19

61,756 Earmarked Reserves 71,470 17
12,642 General Fund Balance 11,157 18

102,544 TOTAL USABLE RESERVES 130,671
Unusable reserves

151,857 Capital Adjustment Account 138,128 31
180,968 Revaluation Reserve 127,708 31

-43 Available for Sale reserve -40
-3,477 Accumulated Absences Account -2,923 31

-251,113 Pensions Reserve -238,932 31/34
23 Deferred capital receipts 0

78,215 TOTAL UNUSABLE RESERVES 23,941

180,759 TOTAL NET WORTH 154,612  
 
These financial statements, authorised for issue on 19th September 2016, replace the 
unaudited ones certified by the Head of Finance on 26th May 2016. 
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The Cash Flow Statement 

2014/15 2015/16
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 Note

62,923   Net (surplus) or deficit on the provision of services 6,937

  Adjustments for:-
-100,896 non cash movements -59,675 32

10,790 -90,106 items that are investing and financing activities  34,962 -24,713 32

-27,183   Net cash flows from Operating Activities -17,776

  Investing Activities

18,347 Expenditure on property, plant and equipment, 
heritage assets and investment properties.

24,946

76 Payments for long term investments and other 
investing activities

0

-1,028
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and 
equipment, heritage assets and investment 
properties.

-764

-30 Proceeds from the sale of long term investments 
and other investing activities

-15

-9,297 Other receipts for investing activites (capital grants 
and contributions)

-33,980

16,300 Net movement in short term investments 9,600
24,368 -213

  Financing Activities

100 Net short term borrowing cash payments/(receipts) 2,800
-1,206 Other receipts from financing activities -347

1,557
Cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding 
liability relating to on balance sheet PFI contracts 1,656

0 Long term loans raised 0
4,516 Long term loans repayed 12,119

0 Other payments for financing activities 0
4,967 16,228
2,152   Net (increase) / decrease in cash and cash equivalents -1,761

11,056   Cash and cash equivalents at 1st April 8,904

8,904   Cash and cash equivalents at 31st March 10,665 13  
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Notes to the Core Financial Statements 

These disclosure notes are grouped under five main headings: - 
 

 Key governance issues 
 Balance Sheet and related items 
 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and related items 
 Technical and other disclosures 
 Accounting Policies 

 
 

A Key governance issues 
 
This section includes disclosures relating to the way the Council operates, payments made 
to, and interests held by councillors and key officers. 
 
1 How the Council works and the role of Councillors 
The Council is made up of 51 elected Councillors, 3 representing each of 17 wards.  During 
2015/16, the 51 councillors represented the following political parties: - 
 

 Conservative  21 councillors 
 Independent    1 councillor 
 Labour   24 councillors 
 Liberal Democrat   5 councillors 
 
Councillors are elected by the people in their ward to serve for four years.  Elections take 
place in each ward three years out of every four, when one council seat in each ward is open 
for election. Duties include representing local citizens; establishing policies for the delivery of 
services and monitoring performance; and making sure the Council complies with the law.  
 
Councillors operate through four types of committee: 

 Full Council; a meeting of all 51 councillors to set local policies and the Council's 
budgets.  

 Cabinet; a group of seven Councillors charged with political oversight and decision-
making within the policies set down by the full Council. The Cabinet during the year was 
made up of seven Labour Party members (the largest elected party), including the 
leader, deputy leader and five portfolio holders.  

 Scrutiny Panels; the largest number of Councillors sit on one or more of five scrutiny 
panels charged with analysing the policies and practices of the Council and making 
recommendations for improvements.  

 Other committees dealing with specific issues such as legal responsibilities for planning 
and licensing. 

 
Councillors are not paid a salary, but receive a basic annual allowance of £10k for time spent 
on official Council business. About half also receive extra allowances reflecting additional 
special responsibilities. Total members’ allowances and expenses paid during the year was 
£737k (£699k in 2014/15). In accordance with regulations these have been advertised as 
being available for public inspection. 
 
2 How the council works and the role of officers 

 
Council services are delivered or commissioned by a workforce of 7,000 full-time, part-time 
and contracted staff (about half of these are teachers and other school workers). Services are 
delivered through a structure of five service directorates, each headed by a director. Within 
the budgets and policies set by the Council and Cabinet, officers have delegated authority to 
progress the hundreds of individual services which the Council provides. 
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There are reporting requirements under both regulations and the Code for remuneration and 
other payments to staff as follows: - 
 

 Employees earning over £50k. Disclosure in bands of £5k of the number of 
employees (including schools based staff) whose remuneration during the period 
covered by the accounts exceeds £50k. Remuneration means all amounts paid to or 
receivable by an employee, and expense allowances chargeable to UK tax. These 
figures include termination settlements as appropriate, but exclude all senior 
employees listed separately in that specific disclosure. For completeness, the figures 
include 29 teaching staff whose costs are included in service expenditure but who 
are technically employed by school governing bodies and not directly by the Council. 

 Exit packages. The number of exit packages agreed (grouped in rising bands of 
£20k up to £100k, and bands of £50k thereafter), analysed between compulsory 
redundancies and other departures, together with the total cost of packages agreed 
in each band. Exit packages include compulsory and voluntary redundancies; the 
cost of early pension entitlement; ex gratia payments and any other departure costs. 
This table includes any exit packages made available to senior officers. 

 Remuneration of senior employees. Disclosure of the remuneration of senior 
employees. There are eight senior employees defined as holders of specific statutory 
posts, and those identified as having responsibility for the management of the 
Council. 
  

Employees earning over £50k 
No. of staff No. of staff

2014/15 2015/16
Teaching Non teaching Teaching Non teaching

staff staff staff staff
34 13 29 14
27 8 32 11
16 4 17 2
11 2 10 2
1 3 2
2 2 1 1
1 7 2 5
1 1

1
1 1

1 1
94 38 97 37

105,000 - 109,999

Officers' and Teachers' 
Remuneration

 £
50,000 - 54,999
55,000 - 59,999

85,000 - 89,999
90,000 - 94,999
95,000 - 99,999

100,000 - 104,999

60,000 - 64,999
65,000 - 69,999
70,000 - 74,999
75,000 - 79,999
80,000 - 84,999

 
 

Exit packages 

2014/15 2015/16

no. of staff Total value no. of staff Total value no. of staff Total value no. of staff Total value
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

57 456 33 200 45 365 40 311
9 233 8 185 11 341 7 185
6 279 6 281 1 46

1 61 1 79 2 129
1 167 0 0

72 968 42 446 64 1233 50 671

Voluntary Compulsory

 £

20,000 - 39,999
40,000 - 59,999

Voluntary

60,000 - 79,999

Entitlement

    0     - 19,999

150,000 - 199,999

Packages including
Redundancy and 

associated PensionCompulsory

Officers' and Teachers' 

 
 
These figures include redundancy costs which are paid in year on exit (£1,011k), and 
consolidated early pension entitlement costs which are borne by the Council, but where the 
benefit is paid over the lifetime of the pensioner (£893k).  
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Remuneration of senior employees 
Salary, fees 

& 
allowances Expenses

Pension 
contributions

Total 
remuneration

Current Senior Officers £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Chief Executive 2015/16 146 21 167
2014/15 146 21 167

Head of Finance 1 2015/16 84 12 96
2014/15 21 3 24

Head of democratic & 2015/16 84 12 96
partnership services 2014/15 82 12 94

Director of children and 2015/16 121 0 121
young people  2014/15 121 1 0 122

Director of communities 2015/16 116 17 133
and support services 2014/15 116 17 133

Director of adults, health 2015/16 111 16 127
and social care  2014/15 111 16 127

Director of public health 2015/16 100 14 114
2014/15 98 14 112

Former Senior Officers

Director of economy and 2015/16 0 0 0
environment 2 2014/15 121 17 138

Interim senior officers

Acting director of economy and 
environment  3 2015/16 112 16 128

Acting Head of Finance (Apr to 
Dec)

2014/15 61 9 70

1  Appointed December 2014
2  On secondment, and left in June 2015
3  From April 2015  
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3. Related party transactions 
 

A lot of activity is undertaken by the Council in connection with other bodies and agencies. 
Related parties is a term applied where the relationship is such that there is the possibility of 
restriction of independent, commercial activity. Related parties are entities or persons with 
significant influence over the financial and operating policy decisions of the Council, and any 
separate entities controlled or jointly controlled by such persons or close family members. 
Councils are required to disclose transactions with these related parties. The purpose of the 
disclosure is to enable consideration of areas of potential conflict, and the safeguards taken 
to prevent it. 
 
The following related parties have been identified for the purposes of this disclosure:- 

 Central Government  
 Pension Fund 
 Other public bodies 
     Members and senior officers (including close family and any organisations in                

which they or their close family have a controlling interest). 

 Central Government 
The UK Government specifies the statutory framework within which local authorities operate. 
It also prescribes the terms of many transactions undertaken and its main sources of funding. 
The main grants receivable are detailed in note 23. Year end debtor and creditor balances 
with Central Government are shown in notes 11 and 14 respectively. Non domestic rate 
income paid to the Government is disclosed in the collection fund note. 

 
 Pension Funds  
Payments in respect of post employment benefit plans are detailed in note 35. Pension fund 
creditors are included in note 14. 
 
 Other Public Bodies 
The Council collects and then pays over council tax and non domestic rate income on behalf 
of other precepting authorities and the Government. Precepts paid to parish councils are 
shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Precepts paid to West 
Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority and the Police and Crime Commissioner for West 
Yorkshire are shown in the collection fund. Payments are also made to other public bodies 
providing services within Calderdale including other local authorities and health bodies. A levy 
of £9.2m (£9.1m in 14/15) was paid to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority for public 
transport provision, which includes a contribution towards the West Yorkshire Transport Fund 
for major regional transport infrastructure projects.  
 
 Members and Senior Officers  
All Members of the Council and senior officers (members of the corporate leadership team) 
are in positions of significant influence over the Council’s financial and operating policies. 
Related parties include all such persons and close family members. Employees are required 
by the officers’ code of conduct to declare to their chief officers any financial or non financial 
interests which could conflict with those of the Council. Such declarations are registered with 
the Head of Democratic and Partnership Services. There are no circumstances or material 
transactions requiring disclosure.  
 
Members are under a statutory duty to disclose specific personal financial interests. These 
are registered and available for public inspection on the Council’s website. Members are also 
required to disclose financial and other interests in matters being considered at meetings at 
which they are present. The purpose of such disclosure is to prevent them from taking part in 
discussions and decisions where there is any potential conflict of interest.  
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Councillors often represent the Council on many local boards and interest groups. These 
appointments are in an advisory capacity and enabling role rather than as a vehicle for 
personal gain, and appointees are unlikely to be appointed to positions of control. Where 
councillors are, in their own right, involved in, members of, employed by or in ownership of 
businesses or organisations providing services to, or in receipt of funding from the Council, all 
such bodies are assessed for potential control or influence and transactions identified. One 
councillor has a spot contract with the Council for the provision of learning and physical 
disability services. £48k was drawn down against this during the year.   
 
 
 
4. External audit assurance 

 
The figures included in these accounts give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Council at the year end, and its financial performance during the year. This is a technical 
document which receives considerable audit scrutiny to give all stakeholders the confidence 
that public money has been properly accounted for. Our appointed auditor, Ernst & Young 
LLP, acts independently to give this assurance. This table shows how much the Council pays 
for this, and for any other audit services provided by them. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
* The appointing body in 2014/15 was the Audit Commission. 

2014/15 2015/16
£'000 APPOINTED AUDITOR FEES £'000

166 External audit services fee 
specified by the Public Sector 
Audit Appointment *

123

-17 Rebate from the Audit Commission 
for the above services

21 Certification of grant claims and 
returns

21

4 Other services 2
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B. Balance Sheet and related items 

5 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets (i.e. those with physical substance) held 
for the provision of services (either directly or indirectly through other parties) or for 
administrative purposes. 

 
Property, plant and equipment includes 44 community, 3 foundation, 4 voluntary controlled 
school buildings, and 1 pupil referral unit which are owned or controlled either by the Council 
or the school governing body. These are valued at £166.7m. This does not include 16 
voluntary aided, 3 voluntary controlled and 1 foundation schools where ownership is vested in 
the church trust. These schools are legally owned by the diocese and it is the diocese which 
bears the risks and benefits associated with ownership (e.g. responsibility for maintenance 
and insurance, sale proceeds etc). Continuing access to the assets relies on the extended 
goodwill of the diocese. 
 
It is only the buildings themselves which are currently excluded from these accounting 
statements. All running costs associated with service provision and schools’ grant funding are 
included in the accounting statements, and these schools’ balances (£1.4m) are included in 
the Balance Sheet as part of overall school balances. Capital expenditure on these schools is 
treated as Revenue Expenditure Financed by Capital Under Statute (REFCUS) – that is, 
expenditure funded by capital resources, but from which the Council derives no controllable 
benefit. This expenditure is charged to the education services line in the net cost of services 
within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Three schools provided under the PFI agreement are accounted for as Council schools (even 
though legal ownership rests elsewhere) as it is considered that the Council effectively 
controls them through contractual arrangements. The other two schools included in the 
agreement have now converted to academies.  
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Movement on property, plant & equiment TOTAL PPE
y/e 31st March 2016 Other

Schools Sports Infrastructure operational Surplus Assets under
facilities assets Assets Construction

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost and valuation at 1st April 2015 188,916 53,421 142,480 181,949 1,667 1,755 570,188
Accumulated depreciation -51 -6 -57,786 -17,105 -117 0 -75,065 

 Net Book Value at 1st April 2015 188,865 53,415 84,694 164,844 1,550 1,755 495,123

Movements during the year

Additions 2,087 428 4,788 12,591 6,557 26,451
Disposals -4,788 -2,717 -954 -8,459 
Revaluations 
  - to revaluation reserve 12,823 796 2,840 138 16,597
  - to surplus/deficit on provision of services 8,792 728 7 9,527
Impairments
  - to revaluation reserve -40,716 -7,064 -23,470 -26 -71,276 
  - to surplus/deficit on provision of services -7,801 -1,117 -14,462 -12 -23,392 
Reclassif ications 7,503 -10,243 -392 -4,788 -7,920 

Depreciation during the year

Depreciation charged -5,919 -1,878 -5,699 -7,665 -2 -21,163 
Disposals 306 112 418
Revaluations 
  - to revaluation reserve 522 366 1,564 2,452
  - to surplus/deficit on provision of services 132 355 487
Impairments
  - to revaluation reserve 4,400 1,296 2,517 6 8,219
  - to surplus/deficit on provision of services 1,010 213 3,259 4,482
Reclassif ications -174 173 1 0

 Net Book Value at 31st March 2016 166,736 46,455 83,783 130,620 428 3,524 431,546

Cost and valuation at 31/3/16 166,816 46,464 147,268 147,216 428 3,524 511,716
Accumulated depreciation -80 -9 -63,485 -16,596 0 0 -80,170 

 Net Book Value at 31st March 2016 166,736 46,455 83,783 130,620 428 3,524 431,546

Nature of asset holding
Ow ned 131,647       46,455         83,783         130,620       428              3,524           396,457
PFI 35,089         35,089

166,736 46,455 83,783 130,620 428 3,524 431,546

    NON OPERATIONALOPERATIONAL PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT
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Movement on property, plant & equiment TOTAL PPE
y/e 31st March 2015 Other

Schools Sports Infrastructure operational Surplus Assets under
facilities assets Assets Construction

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost and valuation at 1st April 2014 227,218 55,269 135,367 173,808 1,252 464 593,378
Accumulated depreciation -13,064 -4,499 -52,371 -19,393 -83 0 -89,410 

 Net Book Value at 1st April 2014 214,154 50,770 82,996 154,415 1,169 464 503,968

Movements during the year

Additions 2,824 61 7,113 5,283 1,291 16,572
Disposals -20,602 -867 -21,469 
Change in Provision 0
Revaluations 
  - to revaluation reserve 34,185 7,516 19,188 60,889
  - to surplus/deficit on provision of services 2,592 303 2,243 5,138
Impairments
  - to revaluation reserve -13,332 -5,339 -11,732 -236 -30,639 
  - to surplus/deficit on provision of services -42,370 -4,389 -6,625 -284 -53,668 
Reclassif ications -1,599 651 935 -13 

Depreciation during the year

Depreciation charged -6,173 -1,363 -5,415 -6,402 -34 -19,387 
Disposals 2,702 30 2,732
Revaluations 
  - to revaluation reserve 11,527 4,301 7,268 23,096
  - to surplus/deficit on provision of services 1,956 699 339 2,994
Impairments
  - to revaluation reserve 1,761 879 87 2,727
  - to surplus/deficit on provision of services 497 856 817 2,170
Reclassif ications 743 -643 -87 13

 Net Book Value at 31st March 2015 188,865 53,415 84,694 164,844 1,550 1,755 495,123

Cost and valuation 188,916 53,421 142,480 181,949 1,667 1,755 570,188
Accumulated depreciation -51 -6 -57,786 -17,105 -117 0 -75,065 

 Net Book Value at 31st March 2015 188,865 53,415 84,694 164,844 1,550 1,755 495,123

Nature of asset holding
Ow ned 156,341       53,415         84,694         164,844       1,550           1,755           462,599
PFI 32,524         32,524

188,865 53,415 84,694 164,844 1,550 1,755 495,123

OPERATIONAL PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT     NON OPERATIONAL

 

Schools and sports facilities 
Schools and sport facilities are valued at current value on a depreciated replacement cost 
(DRC) basis based on a modern equivalent asset (MEA) using the instant build approach. 
 
Other operational assets 
This includes all other classes of operational assets valued on a mixture of bases such as 
existing use for car parks, DRC for children’s centres and depreciated historical cost for short 
lifed assets such as plant, vehicles and equipment, and difficult to value assets such as 
community assets (e.g. parks). 

Infrastructure assets and assets under construction  
Infrastructure assets (e.g. highways and bridges), and assets under construction are 
measured at historical cost and depreciated or impaired as appropriate.  
 
Surplus assets. 
Surplus assets are carried at fair value, being an exit price based on highest and best use. 
 
With the exceptions of land (unless it has a finite life), buildings under construction, and 
community assets (unless specifically appropriate), all items of property, plant and equipment 
are depreciated over their useful economic lives. Depreciation is calculated by writing off the 
valuation of the asset less any estimated residual value over the useful life of the asset. For 
example: - 
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 Buildings have been depreciated on a straight line basis over periods calculated on an 
individual basis. Generally, for example, public conveniences – 10 years; schools, 
swimming baths, sports centres, museums – 30 years; car parks, libraries – 50 years. 

 Infrastructure assets have been depreciated on a straight line basis over 25 years.  
 Plant, vehicles and equipment have been depreciated on a straight line basis over 

periods of between 5 and 15 years.  
 

The Council has identified sufficient capital resources to fund its approved capital programme 
of £127m, including progressing £20m funding for replacement and major remodelling of one 
secondary, three primary and one special school; £21m on major town centre projects such 
as the Piece Hall, Central Library and refurbished offices; rolling programmes of highways 
works, housing grants and further general school improvements costing approximately £10m 
p.a. and £26m for flood prevention and repair.  
 
Outstanding contractual commitments at the balance sheet date for the above capital 
schemes include:- 

 Redevelopment of the Piece Hall site and relocation of the Central Library - £12.2m. 
 Renovation of town centre offices at Princess Buildings - £2.1m 

 
 
6 Investment properties 

2014/15 Movement on Investment Properties 2015/16
£'000 £'000
9,131 Cost and valuation at 1st April 8,688

Movements during the year

9 Additions 3
-237 Disposals 0

Revaluations 
  - to surplus/deficit on provision of services 88
Impairments

-215   - to surplus/deficit on provision of services -53 
8,688  Net Book Value at 31st March 8,726

Nature of asset holding
8,688         Ow ned 8,726           
8,688 8,726  

 
 

Investment properties are those assets held solely to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, 
and are not used to provide services or for administrative purposes. Rental income of £0.6m 
(£0.7m in 14/15) was earned in the year, mainly from shop lettings. Operating costs were 
£0.1m. 
 
Following the adoption of IFRS13, investment properties are valued at highest and best 
value. Previously this was based on market value at the balance sheet date. Investment 
properties comprise industrial, retail, residential and office units; development and grazing 
land. The main considerations in valuing investment properties are rental yields and sale 
values; size, location, configuration and access; condition and covenants. All investment 
property valuations are based on such observable inputs. 
 
After initial recognition, gains and losses on revaluation are recognised in the surplus/deficit 
on the provision of services. Investment properties are not depreciated. 
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7  Heritage Assets 

2014/15 Movement on Heritage Assets 2015/16
£'000 £'000
3,392 Certif ied Valuation at 1st April 3,472

80 Accumulated spend
3,472 Cost and valuation at 1st April 3,472

Movements during the year

0 Additions 0
3,472  Net Book Value at 31st March 3,472

Nature of asset holding
3,472         Ow ned 3,472           
3,472 3,472  

Heritage assets are assets with historical, artistic, scientific, technological, geophysical or 
environmental qualities held principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture rather 
than for any operational reasons. Heritage assets are accounted for generally in accordance 
with the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment, although some heritage 
buildings and structures (such as cemetery chapels, church spires and ruins, a dovecote, 
fountains, statues, war memorials and a gibbet) have not been valued due to the lack of 
comparable market values and the difficult valuation issues surrounding such items. 70,000 
items of little or no value, museum collections and artwork are carried on the Balance Sheet 
at insurance value. These were valued in 2002, but the expense of revaluing these is not 
considered worthwhile in view of the amounts involved. There is one painting with a value 
over £300k, and this valuation was refreshed in 2011. 

The Balance Sheet includes collections of artwork £2.8m, civic regalia £0.2m, furniture 
£0.2m, and other artefacts £0.2m. In total, there are approximately 200 such items. These 
have indeterminate lives and residual values commensurate with carrying values and hence 
depreciation is not considered necessary. 
 
Much of the artwork transferred to the Council on local government reorganisation in 1974. 
Collections are fairly static and acquisitions, sales and donations are infrequent. Council 
policy in relation to acquisitions and disposals can be found on the website. Some items are 
on permanent display, others are included in temporary exhibitions. Items in storage can be 
viewed by appointment through the museum service, and access is given through the use of 
loans to other museums, and via the internet (e.g. all the oil paintings can be viewed online).   
 
 
8 Valuation of Tangible Fixed Assets 
 
Property valuations have been undertaken during the year by Wilks Head & Eve LLP, an 
external firm of property valuation professionals.  

All assets within a particular class are revalued in one financial year, within a 5 year rolling 
programme.  This year, all libraries have been revalued in line with this practice. In addition, 
where the external valuation shows evidence of significant valuation changes, assets within 
major classes are revalued internally, using the appropriate rates identified.  During the year, 
this has applied to all the other major classes of sports centres, schools, day centres, halls 
and community centres.  

The majority of the higher value assets are valued at depreciated replacement cost (DRC). 
These are valued using appropriate average building cost information indices reflecting 
property type and locality and, in echoing broader measures, they typically differ from simple 
market values. Land values are determined within the overall constraints of the Council’s 
unitary development plan (UDP).  
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On advice from our external valuers, obsolescence rates have increased on the majority of 
buildings. This has led to a decrease in building values based on a DRC basis. As a result of 
a review of UDP allocations, school land values (excluding playing fields) have generally 
risen. Overall, there has been a general decrease in the value of council assets this year.  

Where there is impairment of or enhancement to a specific asset, these are revalued in 
isolation, rather than an entire class being revalued. All Council owned properties affected by 
the boxing day floods have been assessed and reinstated. Although significant damage was 
caused within the borough to bridges and schools for which restoration work is ongoing, 
these are not Council owned properties.  

For the purpose of the relevant disclosure notes, only material classes of assets have been 
separately identified, and all other classes have been grouped together as other operational 
assets. Investment properties and Held for Sale assets are assessed annually to reflect  
values at the balance sheet date. Valuations of Property, Plant and Equipment have been 
undertaken as follows: - 

Year of revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment by Net Book Value

Date valued 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 Historical 
cost/ other

Net book 
value

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Schools 165,943         439                354                166,736         
Sports Centres 46,329           120                6                    46,455           
Other 64,633           29,438           4,301             10,323           6,320             15,605           130,620         
Infrastructure 83,783           83,783           
Surplus Assets 207                8                    165                48                  428                
Assets under Construction 3,524             3,524             
Total 277,112         30,005           4,301             10,488           6,368             103,272         431,546          
 
Valuations reflect asset inspections, but these are not full building surveys. Unless evidence 
to the contrary is known (in which case it is reflected in the valuation), valuations assume 
that: there are no issues caused by hazardous materials or other contamination; services are 
connected and working soundly; inaccessible parts are in good condition; sites are stable; 
there are no planning proposals which would impact on the valuation, and that all buildings 
are lawfully used in line with planning consents and free from encumbrances.  
 
 
9. Financing of capital expenditure 

 
This table shows how the Council’s total capital expenditure in the year has been financed. 
Expenditure which can be met from capital resources, but which is not expenditure on fixed 
assets owned by the Council (refcus) comprises mainly spend on housing related grants and 
advances; business support and regeneration, and voluntary aided schools. This is treated as 
revenue expenditure and is included with any associated grant funding in net service costs 
within the surplus/deficit on the provision of services. Adjustments are made to these entries 
so that the net cost can be met through capital resources and does not fall on council 
taxpayers.  
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2014/15 Capital Financing 2015/16
£'000 £'000

Capital expenditure 
16,572 Property, plant and equipment 26,451

9 Investment properties 3
97 Intangible assets 240

311 Long Term Debtors 37
5,022 Revenue expenditure financed by capital (refcus) 9,186

22,011 35,917

Financed by
4,227 Borrowing 8,863
2,528 Capital Receipts 2,785

12,286 Grants & Contributions 20,193
-876 Change of funding from provision -44

3,846 Revenue & Reserves 4,120
22,011 35,917  

 
Capital expenditure that is to be paid for in future years (borrowing) increases the Council’s 
capital financing requirement (CFR) i.e. capital expenditure historically incurred which still has 
to be financed. This is written down annually, in accordance with Council policy, by charges 
to council tax or other capital resources. As a result of amending the policy, repayments of 
£4.4m were made to offset the in-year borrowing requirement. The overall CFR at the year- 
end rose from £176.2m to £180.6m (having fallen from £180.8m to £176.2m in 2014/15). 
 

10 Finance and Operating Leases  
 

The Council holds a small number of properties on long-term finance leases mainly 
exceeding 100 years. The net book value of these properties is £8.8m (£9.1m in 2014/15). 
Premium payments were made at the time of entering into the leases, so there are no 
outstanding liabilities for future lease rental payments for these properties.  
 
Operating lease arrangements for a small number of buildings and equipment are immaterial 
for separate disclosure. All costs and income are included in the net cost of services 
 

11 Short term debtors 
 

2015 ANALYSIS OF DEBTORS 
AT 31st MARCH

2016

£’000 £’000
3,796 Central government 6,199
5,153 Health bodies 2,662

10,054 Other operational debtors 10,542
5,099 Council tax payers 4,519
1,314 Business rate payers 1,263
2,669 Prepayments 2,015

28,085 Total Debtors 27,200  
 
This is an analysis of sums owing to the Council and not received by the 31st March, but 
which are due within one year, and of any prepayments made. To mitigate against the risk of 
non payment of debts, the main categories of debtor have been reviewed for impairment both 
individually and collectively, and appropriate provision made for monies due which it is 
anticipated may not be recovered. Charges during the year for impairment of debtors of 
£0.2m have been made to the net cost of services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. Charges for impairment to debtors of £0.037m have been made to 
the collection fund. This consisted of £0.702m credited back for council tax, reflecting 
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improved collection rates, and £0.739m charged for business rates where collection rates 
dipped following the Boxing Day floods as resources were diverted to ensure that grant 
support was paid promptly to affected premises.  
 
 
12 Short Term Investments  
 
These are cash balances held over the year end and temporarily lent out to financial 
institutions - £58.9m (£67.5m), and £23.4m to other local authorities (£3.3m). The balances 
invested are distinct from cash equivalents as the liquidity of the investments is for a fixed 
period and the investments cannot be cashed in other than at the arranged date without the 
consent of the counterparty and potential penalties. 

 
 
 

13 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
The balance of cash and cash equivalents is made up of the following elements. For the 
purpose of the cashflow, the total cash movement also includes the Council’s reconciled bank 
balance. 
 

2014/15 Cash and cash equivalents - cash held 2015/16
£'000 £'000
9,166    Cash held in school bank accounts 8,954     

-        Cash held in Council bank accounts 1,583     
165       Cash held by the Council 128        

9,331    10,665   

427-       Cash and cash equivalents - bank overdraft -         

8,904    Total cash and cash equivalents 10,665    
 
 

14     Short term creditors 
 

2015 2016
£’000 £’000

-13,433 Central government -9,145
-19,532 Other operational creditors -25,625
-3,477 Accumulated absences -2,923
-3,111 Pension Funds -2,943

-546 Council tax payers -601
-328 Business rate payers -1,581

-2,648 Other accruals and deferred income -2,145
-43,075 Total Creditors -44,963

ANALYSIS OF CREDITORS AT 
31st MARCH

 
 
These are sums owed by the Council which have not been paid at the 31st March and which 
are due for settlement within one year. The analysis also includes other monies received in 
advance of services being provided or grant conditions being fulfilled, and which will be 
recognised as income once services have been provided or grant conditions met.  
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15 Provisions 
 
(i) Insurance claims (£3.2m) 
Provision has been made for possible settlement of a number of insurance claims. The 
Council is self-insured up to specific limits for various categories of risk. Any claims beyond 
these specific limits are insured externally. There are a number of claim years for which cover 
was provided by an underwriter which has gone into liquidation. A levy notice increasing the 
proportion of costs which the Council will now have to meet to 25% has been issued. 
Provision has been made for these costs which previously would have been covered by the 
underwriter.  
 
The level of provision made is adequate to meet the Council’s estimated known liabilities. All 
insurance categories, other than public liability claims, have been provided for in full. Public 
liability claims have been provided for at 50%. This is considered reasonable on the basis of 
past claims experience. Claims can take a number of years to resolve with, on average, 
annual settlements of around £1.25m to £1.75m being made.  
 

(ii) Business rate appeals (£2.2m) 
Following the introduction of the Business Rates Retention Scheme, councils are now partly 
liable for successful appeals against rates charged. These appeals can go back several 
years. The Government and precepting fire authority also have a proportionate share of this 
cost. Appeals are determined by an independent body - the Valuation Office Agency. Based 
on details of outstanding appeals provided by the Valuation Office at the end of the year, 
known appeals by specific businesses, and an analysis of past successful appeals, a 
provision for returnable rates income of £0.875m has been charged to the collection fund. 
The Council’s share of this cost is £0.429m. 
 
All material provisions are listed below:  
 
ANALYSIS OF MOVEMENT Insurance Business rate Other Capital
IN PROVISIONS  2015/16  claims appeals provision Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Opening balance 1st April 2015 -2,142 -1,794 -515 -79 -4,530
Additional provision made -2,434 -975 -109 0 -3,518
Settlements made 1,370 546 455 44 2,415
Reversal of amounts not used 0 0 60 0 60
Closing balance 2015/16 -3,206 -2,223 -109 -35 -5,573
of which expected to be settled 

within 12 months
-1,351 -2,223 -109 -35 -3,718

ANALYSIS OF MOVEMENT 
IN PROVISIONS  2014/15
Opening balance 1st April 2014 -2,728 -1,103 -391 -955 -5,177
Additional provision made -455 -1,473 -335 0 -2,263
Settlements made 1,041 782 173 876 2,872
Reversal of amounts not used 0 0 38 0 38
Closing balance 2014/15 -2,142 -1,794 -515 -79 -4,530

of which expected to be settled 

within 12 months
-1,349 -1,794 -515 -79 -3,737
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16 Capital reserves 
 
The following reserves are earmarked to finance projects within the capital programme. The 
usable capital receipts reserve is the balance of sums received from the sale of fixed assets 
which have not yet been applied. The capital grants reserve is the balance of grants 
recognised where the relevant expenditure has not yet been incurred. £17m of this is schools 
related capital grants, and £24m is for works related to flooding. 

 
 
 
 
17 Earmarked Reserves 

Earmarked reserves are sums set aside for specific purposes to meet items of future 
expenditure. This note sets out the main earmarked reserves held at the year end. All 
reserves are created either by service directorates under delegated powers, or by specific 
Council resolution. During the year, a net £9.714 was put into earmarked reserves. 
 
Balance b/f Added to Taken from Balance c/f Balance b/f Added to Taken from Balance c/f

1/4/2014 Reserves Reserves 31/3/2015 Reserves at 1st April 1/4/2015 Reserves Reserves 31/3/2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1,540         1,941      -914 2,567         Public Health grant 2,567         2,601      -2,563 2,605         
6,000         1,000      7,000         Budget support 7,000         653         -1,000 6,653         

939            701         -274 1,366         High Needs education reserve 1,366         -69 1,297         
1,705         1,667      -302 3,070         Early Year's reserve 3,070         1,364      -1,106 3,328         

-            Commissioning -             1,728      0 1,728         
1,395         431         -249 1,577         IT reserves 1,577         509         -271 1,815         
1,315         61           -198 1,178         s106 Planning Agreements 1,178         241         -633 786            
9,497         1,220      -1,840 8,877         Contingent Liabilities 8,877         1,473      -3,197 7,153         
8,164         3,617      -894 10,887       Investment reserve 10,887       5,045      -222 15,710       
1,118         576         1,694         Early retirement 1,694         789         -500 1,983         
2,048         29           -944 1,133         Economic investment fund 1,133         459         -434 1,158         
1,677         1,023      -1,677 1,023         Policy reserves - carry forwards 1,023         541         -1,023 541            

500            Flooding reserve 500            4,390      0 4,890         
820            Reablement 820            1,011      -492 1,339         
-            Better care fund -             1,195      0 1,195         

10,356       6,392      -7,179 8,249         Other Earmarked Reserves 8,249         4,761      -4,967 8,043         
45,754       18,658     -14,471 49,941       Total non schools reserves 49,941       26,760     -16,477 60,224       
1,611         -3 1,608         Schools staff absences 1,608         -102 1,506         
3,467         154         -804 2,817         School contingencies 2,817         72           -310 2,579         
6,355         2,754      -1,719 7,390         Statutory schools reserves 7,390         1,873      -2,102 7,161         

11,433       2,908      -2,526 11,815       Total school reserves 11,815       1,945      -2,514 11,246       

57,187       21,566     -16,997 61,756       Reserves at 31st March 61,756       28,705     -18,991 71,470       
 

2014/15 2015/16
£'000 £'000

4,492     Balance at 1st April 2,967

1,005    Capital receipts received 672
-2,528    Used to fund capital expenditure -2,785

0    Used to repay debt 0
-2    Housing pooled contribution -1

2,967    Balance at 31st March 853

Usable capital receipts 
reserve 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

22,565     Balance at 1st April 23,981

4,088    Grants recognised but not applied 29,853
-2,672    Grants used for capital financing -7,772

23,981    Balance at 31st March 46,062

Capital grants unapplied 
reserve
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Reserve Purpose of Reserve
Public Health grant Upfront and one-off project funding for public health services
Budget support To help support future year budgets and manage council tax levels
High Needs education reserve Grant funding carried forward into 2016/17
Early Year's reserve Grant funding carried forward into 2016/17
Commissioning Grant funding support for looked after children and SEN services
IT reserves Replace IT equipment such as servers and other hardware
s106 Planning Agreements Developer contributions for specific schemes or purposes
Contingent Liabilities Cover for insurance and other potential liability claims 
Investment reserve Funding for the capital schemes and for invest to save initiatives 
Early retirement Funding for pension increases due to fund revaluations and workforce development costs
Economic investment fund Funding to promote economic growth
Policy reserves - carry forwards Service underspends carried forward into 2016/17
Flooding reserve Grant funding towards flood repair costs
Reablement Funding to enable people to maintain independent living
Better care fund Funding for health related schemes in conjunction with the NHS
Other Earmarked Reserves Miscellaneous service reserves

Schools staff absences Schools' funding to provide cover for staff absences
School contingencies Other funding sources held for schools
Statutory schools reserves School reserves  
Statutory school reserves are held in accordance with the Council’s framework following 
statutory guidance. This provides for school surpluses to be carried forward into the following 
year. These reserves are earmarked only to schools and are committed to be spent on 
education services. The total level of schools reserves at 31 March 2016 is £7.161m. Two 
schools had deficits totalling £1.095m. 
 
 

 18 Balances 
 

General balances of £11.157m are held to deal with unexpected costs, and to manage 
council tax levels in future years. £3.3m has already been earmarked to support future years’ 
budgets. Total balances at the year-end are 2.6% of gross expenditure. Excluding 
expenditure on schools (which have their own specific reserves), balances are 3.1%.  
 

19 Collection fund adjustment account 
 
The collection fund adjustment account shows the Council’s share of the surplus or deficit on 
the collection fund at the year end. Surpluses are available to the Council to support council 
tax levels. Deficits have to be addressed when setting future council tax charges. 
 
2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

476 Balance at 1st April 1,198

102,298
Collection fund income recognised in 
the CIES 103,255

-101,576
Collection fund income recognised 
under statute -103,324

1,198 Balance at 31st March 1,129

Collection fund adjustment 
account
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20 Contingent Liabilities  
 

Losses (costs) which are foreseeable and can be estimated with a degree of certainty have 
been accrued into the financial statements. Contingent liabilities are those which may arise in 
the future depending on some future event, the outcome of which cannot be predicted and 
the costs of which cannot be estimated with reasonable accuracy. This may be because, for 
example, claims may or may not be made; cases may or may not be pursued through the 
courts or other means of arbitration; defaults may or may not occur. Because of the great 
uncertainty surrounding them, such events have not been accrued into the accounts. The 
main contingent items are for matters arising under: - 

 Insured events. Contingent liabilities exist for some outstanding claims at the balance 
sheet date, claims not yet received in respect of events occurring in earlier years, 
including further possible sums due under the scheme of administration for claims in 
years for which the underwriter has gone into liquidation. Appropriate provision has 
been made where claims have been received.  

 The Council acts as guarantor for a small number of staff across 12 separate bodies 
that have been admitted to the pension fund. On cessation of the body’s participation 
in the fund, any shortfalls are initially claimed from the admitted body. If they cannot 
be recovered from that source, the pension fund would look at the guarantee 
arrangements and draw down from bonds that are in place and, if still insufficient, 
from the guarantor. Several schemes have bonds in place and only one scheme is 
currently in deficit. This is the Calderdale and Kirklees Careers Service Partnership 
where exposure, which is shared, could in the event be in the region of £1m. 

 The Council also provides a bank overdraft guarantee for the Calderdale and Kirklees 
Careers Service Partnership up to a limit of £150k, although the partnership currently 
has no overdraft facility in place. 

 The Council is currently assessing the impact of the EU Working Time directive which 
requires that regular, compulsory overtime in the 3 month period prior to leave being 
taken should be reflected in holiday pay. It is thought that the Council already 
complies with this. A test case is being brought to court with regard to other 
allowances. It is not anticipated that there will be any claims against the Council, but 
in the event, settlements are expected to be low (if any) and will be covered by the 
contingent liability reserve.  

 There is a claim of £4.5m against the Council from the contractor responsible for 
highway works under the Council’s Highways, Environment and Public Realm and 
Related Services Contract. The claim, relating to work volumes, procurement and 
schedules of rates, is being refuted by the Council. 

 Following the Boxing Day floods, there are some issues being considered regarding 
land stability which may result in claims against the Council, although none have been 
received. 

 
The Council has provided cover in reserves for some of these potential risks. 
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C Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and related items 
 
21 Government Grants 
 
Some Government grants are service specific – they are given for specific service initiatives 
and are analysed as service income in the net cost of services. The main ones are as follows:  
 
Government grant credited to specific services 2015/16 2014/15
within CIES £m £m
Service specific grants
  Housing Benefit Grant 67.8 69.9
  Dedicated Schools Grant 99.7 105.1
  Pupil Premium Grant 6.9 6.6
  Sixth form Funding (YPLA) 2.9 3.2
  Adult and Community Learning (Skills Funding Agency) 1.0 1.1
  PFI Grant 1.9 1.8
  Public Health Grant 12.1 10.7
  Other Government Grants 10.8 7.7
TOTAL 203.1 206.1  
 
Grants which are non specific, (which are given to support council spending generally rather 
than specific services) are included under “Government Grant not attributable to specific 
services”. Non specific grants include:- 

Government grant credited to taxation and non 2015/16 2014/15
specific grant income within CIES £m £m
  Revenue support grant 33.1 45.2
  Education services grant 2.2 2.7
  Mandatory business relief grant 2.4 2.5
  Funding received towards the Boxing Day floods 33.1 0.0
  Top up grant 9.6 9.4
  PFI interest 3.0 3.0
  Other revenue non specific grants 6.5 5.9
  Capital grants with fulfilled conditions 9.3 9.8
TOTAL 99.2 78.5  

The communities and business recovery grant, and the large increase in capital grants 
recognised all relate to funding received for the Boxing Day floods. 
 
 
22   Dedicated Schools Grant 
 
The Council’s expenditure on schools is funded primarily by grant monies provided by the 
Department for Education. An element of the grant is recouped by the Department to fund 
academy schools in the Council’s area. The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is ring fenced 
and can only be applied to meet expenditure properly included in the Schools Budget, as 
defined in the School Finance and Early Years (England) regulations 2011. The Schools 
Budget includes two elements; a restricted range of educational services provided on an 
authority-wide basis (central expenditure), and the Individual Schools Budget (ISB) which is 
divided into a budget share for each school and early years’ setting. Over and under spends 
on the two elements are required to be accounted for separately. The balance on ISB carried 
forward into 2016/17 relates to early years funding which will be deployed to early years’ 
settings in future years.  The amount of central expenditure being carried forward is DSG 
funding to be allocated centrally towards school related activities.  
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Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 2015/16 are as follows: 
 

CENTRAL INDIVIDUAL
SCHOOLS BUDGET FUNDED BY EXPENDITURE  SCHOOLS TOTAL
DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT  BUDGET

£000s £000s £000s
2015/16
Final DSG for 2015/16 before academy 
recoupment

17,976 151,542 169,518

Academy figure recouped for 2015/16 -69,852 -69,852
Total DSG after Academy recoupment for 
2015/16 17,976 81,690 99,666
Brought forward from 2014/15 2,434 3,046 5,480
Final budgeted distribution for 2015/16 20,410 84,736 105,146
Less actual central expenditure -18,104 -18,104
Less actual ISB deployed to schools -81,408 -81,408
Carry forward to 2016/17 2,306 3,328 5,634

2014/15
Final DSG for 2014/15 before academy 
recoupment

18,395 152,289 170,684

Academy figure recouped for 2014/15 -65,624 -65,624
Total DSG after Academy recoupment for 
2014/15 18,395 86,665 105,060
Brought forward from 2013/14 2,590 1,638 4,228
Final budgeted distribution for 2014/15 20,985 88,303 109,288
Less actual central expenditure -18,551 -18,551
Less actual ISB deployed to schools -85,257 -85,257
Carry forward to 2015/16 2,434 3,046 5,480  

 

23 Other Long Term Commitments 
 

In June 2003, the Council entered into a contract with a private sector partner to provide and 
manage 5 new build/refurbished schools (4 secondary, 1 primary) through a private finance 
initiative scheme. Two of the secondary schools have now become academies. These 
schools are no longer held on the Council’s balance sheet. The three remaining schools are 
valued at £35.1m at the year end. There is also a liability on the Balance Sheet to pay future 
lease rentals.  
 
The liability arising from this scheme has been reworked at 31st March 2016. The outstanding 
liability now excludes £5m of interest and commitment fees relating to the procurement of the 
scheme rather than the construction. In addition, liabilities have been reworked based on 
recognition at the point of completion of each school, rather than as the expenditure was 
incurred. In addition to the in year payment of £1.7m, the effect of this adjustment is to reduce 
the outstanding liability at 31st March 2016 by a further £739k. The outstanding liability will be 
£1m higher in 2022 compared to the previous profile, but in total the costs of the scheme will 
be the same. It is just the profile of repayments which has changed. 
 
The contract is for a period of 28 years, and the Council pays an annual unitary charge for the 
use and management of the premises. This charge is broken down into notional 3 elements – 
a service charge (including provision for lifecycle replacement costs which are expensed in 
line with the original PFI operator model agreement); repayment of the liability; and 
associated interest charges. The scheme attracts annual Government grant funding with the 
net cost being met by Council contributions, and contributions from the schools.  
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Commitments to future payments under the schools PFI scheme are as follows:-   
 

Total
Year ended 31st March 2016 Service Repayment Interest unitary

Charges of liability costs charge
£m £m £m £m

Less than one year 2.7 1.5 3.1 7.3
Between two and five years 11.2 7.2 11.2 29.6
Between six and ten years 15.4 13.2 9.8 38.4
Between eleven and fifteen years 13.7 15.9 2.9 32.5

43.0 37.8 27.0 107.8

2015/16
£m

Liability outstanding at start of year 40.2
Payments made during the year -1.6
Remeasurement of PFI scheme liability -0.8

Liability outstanding at end of year 37.8

  
These commitments are based on the original model and are index linked at an assumed 2% 
p.a. An actual annual inflation rate is applied based on specified factors. This rate has, on 
average, proved to be slightly higher than that assumed in the model (increasing the total 
unitary charge by £0.4m p.a). This increase (known as contingent rent) forms part of the 
service charge. The Council will receive grant of £73m towards the annual contract charges 
over the remaining life of the contract. 
 
 
24 Pooled Budget 
 

The Council is a partner with the Calderdale Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) in the 
Calderdale Better Care Fund (BCF). This is a section 75 agreement as permitted under 
regulations by the secretary of state. It involves the pooling of funding from NHS England and 
the Department of Health - £15.5m in total.  The BCF programme board, consisting of officers 
from the Council and the CCG, agree how these monies are to be spent. The agreed 
programme covers a range of intervention and prevention measures across the Borough, and 
schemes to promote independence, recovery, reablement, rehabilitiation and end of life 
support. Each partner progresses its own scheme. During the year, the CCG spent £4m, 
Calderdale £10m and £1m was put into reserves.  

 
25 Material items of income and expense 
 
Significant losses on the disposal of fixed assets are usually due to the requirement to hand 
over school premises to academy trusts on conversion. In 2015/16 the loss of £7m was due 
primarily to the transfer during the year of the newly built Halifax Academy primary school. In 
the previous year, there were 3 academy conversions.  
 
Following a large programme of asset valuations, significant impairments (£17m) of property 
values were written off to the comprehensive income and expenditure account. This includes 
£8m of Held for Sale assets and reflects revised obsolescence rates for properties valued on 
a depreciated replacement cost basis. 
 
Due to the exceptional floods on Boxing Day, £5m of related costs have been paid during the 
year. Funding of £33m has been recognised, with the majority of this being carried forward in 
reserves to fund future works and restoration. 
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D. Technical and other disclosures 

26 Service analysis 

The service analysis in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement follows the 
standard service expenditure analysis as required under the Code of Practice (“The Code”) 
and under the Service Accounting Code of Practice (SerCOP). This analysis has to be 
adopted for purposes of external reporting, but differs from that used for internal reporting 
which follows the Council's directorate/service structure. (This requirement ceases in 
2016/17, and the net cost of services will in future be based on the Council structure). 
 
Internal reports are used to assist management in allocating resources and to plan, monitor 
and manage the Council’s performance and finances. They do not reflect in full all the 
accounting policies used in these financial statements (which serve a different purpose and 
are geared towards a different audience). In particular, internal reports exclude certain year 
end entries which are included in these statements for financial accounting purposes, but 
which balance across the Council to nil and have no impact either on council tax or levels of 
available funding. These entries include charges to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement relating to the valuation of fixed assets; capital expenditure and 
funding; retirement benefits; and a technical adjustment to the council tax precept and 
business rate income. 
 
During the year, the Council expanded its revenue monitoring and reporting to include fuller 
analyses of income and expenditure, and to make a clear distinction between costs controlled 
within directorate budget allocations, and those managed centrally. The figures below reflect 
this approach, and the comparators for 2014/15 have been amended in the light of this 
change. 
 
Directorate income and expenditure is as follows: 
  

Segmental subjective analysis 
as reported to management 
2015/16
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£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Grants and contributions -18,887 -13,126 -127,840 -3,594 -3,182 -238,293 -404,922
Fees, charges & other income -12,432 -1,644 -6,838 -10,864 -13,530 -419 -45,727
Interest & investment income 0 0 -21 0 0 -838 -859
Total income -31,319 -14,770 -134,699 -14,458 -16,712 -239,550 -451,508

Employee expenses 15,896 6,862 100,542 24,449 13,562 4,652 165,963
Other operating expenses 56,432 14,075 64,483 10,817 33,487 97,719 277,013
Support Service Recharges 0 9 190 43 33 28 303
Total expenditure 72,328 20,946 165,215 35,309 47,082 102,399 443,279

Net Funding requirement before 
reserves 41,009 6,176 30,516 20,851 30,370 -137,151 -8,229

Movement in reserves 1,348 -95 827 -794 -641 9,069 9,714

Movement in balances 42,357 6,081 31,343 20,057 29,729 -128,082 1,485
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Segmental subjective analysis 
as reported to management 
(restated) 2014/15
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£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Grants and contributions -15,929 -11,837 -134,155 -4,128 -2,199 -239,062 -407,310
Fees, charges & other income -12,284 -551 -7,740 -11,074 -13,625 -1,832 -47,106
Interest & investment income 0 0 -35 0 0 -808 -843
Total income -28,213 -12,388 -141,930 -15,202 -15,824 -241,702 -455,259

Employee expenses 15,336 6,332 102,802 24,538 15,096 3,228 167,332
Other operating expenses 58,612 11,425 65,756 10,830 32,032 102,257 280,912
Support Service Recharges 6 190 0 34 86 316
Total expenditure 73,948 17,763 168,748 35,368 47,162 105,571 448,560

Net Funding requirement before 
reserves 45,735 5,375 26,818 20,166 31,338 -136,131 -6,699
Movement in reserves 819 811 2,322 707 -1,165 1,075 4,569

Movement in balances 46,554 6,186 29,140 20,873 30,173 -135,056 -2,130

 
 
 
The above directorate analysis of movement in balances reconciles back to the net cost of 
services within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as follows: - 
 
 

2014/15 
£'000

Reconcile segments to Net Cost of Services in 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

2015/16 
£'000

2,130-        Movement in balances 1,485     
Remove amounts reported to management 

not included in Net cost of Services

18,778-            Other operating expenditure 15,749-   
15,661-            Financing and investment income and expenditure 15,102-   

180,809          Taxation and non specific grant income 202,432 
69,622      Adjustments between accounting basis & funding basis 15,166   
4,569-        Movement on reserves 9,714-     

Net Cost of Services in Comprehensive Income and
209,293    Expenditure Statement 178,518  
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The net cost of services is identified subjectively below: 
 

Reconcile segments to total income 
and expenditure per Provision of 
Services Subjective Analysis 2015/16                       
£'000
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Fees, charges & other service income -45,727 32 5,445 6,779 -33,471 0 -33,471
Interest and investment income -859 0 859 0 0 -859 -859
Income from council tax/business rates -103,324 69 103,255 0 0 -103,255 -103,255
Net surplus from trading operations 0 0 0 0 0 -115 -115
Government grants and contributions -301,598 -42,273 99,177 1,113 -243,581 -99,177 -342,758
Total Income -451,508 -42,172 208,736 7,892 -277,052 -203,406 -480,458

Employee expenses 165,963 7,808 -6,552 -2,070 165,149 0 165,149
Other service expenses 267,878 9,180 -11,195 -5,519 260,344 0 260,344
Support Service recharges 303 0 0 -303 0 0 0
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 0 30,077 0 0 30,077 0 30,077
Interest Payments 8,675 0 -8,675 0 0 8,675 8,675
Precepts & Levies 460 0 -460 0 0 460 460
Payments to Housing Capital Receipts Pool 0 1 -1 0 0 1 1
Pensions interest costs 0 7,762 -7,762 0 0 7,762 7,762
Investment and held for sale properties 0 7,926 -7,926 0 0 7,485 7,485
Gain or Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets 0 7,442 -7,442 0 0 7,442 7,442
Total operating expenses 443,279 70,196 -50,013 -7,892 455,570 31,825 487,395

Movement in reserves 9,714 0 -9,714 0 0 0 0

Surplus or deficit on the provision of services 1,485 28,024 149,009 0 178,518 -171,581 6,937  
 
Reconcile segments to total income 
and expenditure per Provision of 
Services Subjective Analysis 
(restated) 2014/15                              
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Fees, charges & other service income -47,106 0 5,933 7,366 -33,807 0 -33,807
Interest and investment income -843 0 843 0 0 -843 -843
Income from council tax/business rates -101,576 -722 102,298 0 0 -102,298 -102,298
Net surplus from trading operations 0 0 0 0 0 -370 -370
Government grants and contributions -305,734 -13,702 78,511 852 -240,073 -78,511 -318,584
Total Income -455,259 -14,424 187,585 8,218 -273,880 -182,022 -455,902

Employee expenses 167,332 5,208 -5,615 -1,948 164,977 0 164,977
Other service expenses 271,783 5,022 -15,408 -5,954 255,443 0 255,443
Support Service recharges 316 0 0 -316 0 0 0
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 0 62,753 0 0 62,753 0 62,753
Interest Payments 8,673 0 -8,673 0 0 8,673 8,673
Precepts & Levies 456 0 -456 0 0 456 456
Payments to Housing Capital Receipts Pool 0 2 -2 0 0 2 2
Pensions interest costs 0 8,152 -8,152 0 0 8,152 8,152
Investment and held for sale properties 0 333 -333 0 0 -203 -203
Gain or Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets 0 18,572 -18,572 0 0 18,572 18,572
Total operating expenses 448,560 100,042 -57,211 -8,218 483,173 35,652 518,825

Movement in reserves 4,569 0 -4,569 0 0 0 0

Surplus or deficit on the provision of services -2,130 85,618 125,805 0 209,293 -146,370 62,923  
 



  Disclosure Notes  
                                                                                                                                  Technical and other disclosures 

 

43 

27    Changes in accounting estimates and policies 
 
A new accounting standard, IFRS13, has been adopted during the year. This standard 
applies prospectively from 1st April 2015. IFRS 13 specifies that where an accounting 
standard requires measurement of an asset or liability at fair value, that measurement will be 
based on exit price (highest and best use). The Code recognises that the standard is written 
primarily from a commercial perspective of asset maximisation, and the specific adaptation 
for local authorities means that most assets have continued to be valued on the existing basis 
reflecting service potential. Investment properties and surplus assets are, however, now 
valued under the new definition of fair value. This valuation method recognises potential uses 
other than existing use. The overall effect has not been material.  
 
Fair values may be determined by quoted prices; observable inputs other than quoted prices; 
or unobservable inputs. The use of relevant observable inputs needs to be maximised, and 
the use of unobservable inputs needs to be minimised. Appropriate disclosures have been 
made within these statements as to the valuation inputs used. 
 
During 2015/16, the Council made a change to its MRP policy. This policy is used to 
determine a prudent minimum amount chargeable each year to the Council’s revenue 
account to provide for the repayment of loans used to finance capital expenditure. The 
change relates to capital expenditure prior to April 2007. This was provided for at 4% 
reducing balance, but has been changed to 50 year straight line. This means that the debt is 
paid off sooner, and it also better reflects the life of the assets supported by the borrowing. 
Repayment of borrowing for all assets acquired after that date continues to be based on the 
relevant asset lives. This policy has now been extended to the schools PFI deal. As a result 
of the policy change, the Council will save between £1.7m and £2.7m over each of the next 
15 years. Even allowing for an accelerated repayment schedule, the Council will benefit up to 
year 41 at which point any savings will be offset by the increased sums necessary to ensure 
the earlier repayment of debt. 
 
 
28 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
 
All financial transactions are recorded based on applying accounting policies. These are 
determined by the Code of Practice on local authority accounting (the Code) and are based 
on a set of internationally recognised accounting standards known as International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Audit Committee approves these policies annually. The 
accounting policies are listed in section E of these disclosure notes. Judgements have to be 
made in deciding the most appropriate policies to apply. The main judgements are detailed in 
this note. Once a policy is chosen, assumptions and estimates have to be made to determine 
the figures to be included. The main assumptions and estimates are detailed in note 30. 
 

Asset valuations. The Council continues to rationalise service delivery and the buildings from 
which services are provided. Asset valuations are based on service potential, and fair value 
for surplus and investment properties. Where a service is to be terminated, any unrecovered 
service potential is recognised at the point of termination. Where an asset is permanently 
underutilised, valuation methods reflect this. 
 
Componentisation. Building components of significant value or with a life significantly different 
from the rest of the building, have been considered and identified as separate assets where 
there is likely to be a material effect on the amount charged for depreciation. As a result, we 
have identified the cremators as separate components. 
 
Contingent Liabilities. A number of issues have arisen with potential liabilities for the Council, 
the outcome of which is based on possible future events. Those events for which, on balance, 
provision in the accounts is not warranted are detailed in note 22. 
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Business rate revaluations. From the 1st of April 2013, following the localisation of business 
rates, variations in business rate income impact significantly on council funding. Revaluation 
appeals can be backdated. Appeals are made to, and resolved by the Valuation Office 
Agency - an independent body. Provision is made for loss of income due to successful 
appeals based on appeals outstanding at the year end, known “hot” issues, and an analysis 
of previous successful appeals. 
 
Council tax revaluations. Revaluation appeals can be backdated and are recognised in the 
collection fund account once they have been determined. There are very few appeals 
outstanding at the year end, and although there is insufficient information available to make 
any reliable estimate of the effect of ongoing appeals, any effect is likely to be immaterial. 
Revaluation appeals which have not been resolved by the Valuation Office Agency are 
therefore considered to be contingent liabilities until a decision is made. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities.  Only other operational debtors/creditors and those with other 
public bodies have been recognised as financial assets/liabilities under the financial 
instruments disclosure note. All other debtors and creditors arise under statutory debts, or do 
not arise from contracts requiring the delivery of cash/financial assets. 
 
Treatment of grants. Where grant funding has been received, judgement has been made as 
to whether any conditions associated with the receipt of that grant have been met or not. 
Grants with unmet conditions are included within creditors. Grants have been recognised 
through the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement where conditions have been 
met. Grant monies not yet spent have been appropriated into reserves.  
 
Group accounts. We have considered relationships with a number of organisations involved 
in voluntary sector support, regional and local economic/development and tourist initiatives, 
and matters of common interest. We have determined that none fall to be accounted for 
within group accounting arrangements. 
 
Academy schools. A number of schools have either become, or are considering becoming 
academies. Until such time as they actually convert, these schools are treated like other 
schools with any carrying amount on the Balance Sheet reflecting the control of the service 
value embedded in the asset. Schools are written out on transfer at nil consideration with any 
unrecovered value being recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement at that date.  
 
Schools. By virtue of legal ownership or the control exerted over school governing bodies, the 
Council recognises on its Balance Sheet at current value, interests in all schools where 
ownership is vested either in the council or a school governing body. This includes all 
community schools, and some foundation and voluntary controlled schools (51 in total).  All 
other schools (20) are vested in founding trusts controlled by religious bodies. Ownership of 
these schools is not recognised by the Council as there is no past transaction or event giving 
the Council control of these properties; rights to continuing use of the assets, or to the 
benefits associated with them. This is entirely dependent on the ongoing and future goodwill 
of the owner which could take back the asset at any time. However, the costs of providing 
actual education services from such establishments and the revenues arising are recognised 
as service costs under net cost of services. 
 
Private Finance Initiative schools. We have determined that, in respect of the Council’s 5 
school PFI scheme, irrespective of legal title, control of the assets rests effectively with the 
Council. Two of the schools have converted to Academies and have been written out, 
although the ongoing contractual liability to make payments until the end of the contract for 
the building of the schools remains with the Council. Due to the contractual arrangements in 
place between the Council and the provider, all remaining non Academy schools procured 
under the PFI contract have been recognised as Council assets. 
 
 
 



  Disclosure Notes  
                                                                                                                                  Technical and other disclosures 

 

45 

29 Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of 
estimation uncertainty 
 
The Balance Sheet contains some estimated figures based on possible future events, or 
which are otherwise uncertain. All relevant factors are taken into account in determining 
values for assets and liabilities, but actual results could differ from the estimates based on the 
assumptions made. The key assumptions and areas of estimation uncertainty are:- 
 
Property, plant and equipment. Assets are depreciated over their useful lives which are 
dependent on assumptions about the level of repairs and maintenance. Asset lives are 
reviewed as part of the annual revaluation programme. The Council is already rationalising its 
property portfolio and in view of funding cuts, it is possible that future investment in properties 
which don’t feature within the Council’s long term property solution will fall. A reduction in 
asset life of one year for 20% of the asset holding would result in accelerated depreciation, 
and a reduction in total asset values of approximately £0.1m.  
 
Short term investments. This is based on the assumption that all counterparties will be able to 
repay these in full on the due dates. The Council has had no defaults on any of its 
investments, and no counterparties have suffered an adverse change in credit rating since 
the investments were made. Consequently, impairment of outstanding amounts is not 
considered necessary. 
 
Debtors. Approximately one third of the debtors outstanding are public bodies from whom 
payment is fairly certain. The remainder have been assessed for credit losses – i.e. the 
chance that payment will not be made and that the asset should be impaired accordingly. 
Rates of non payment are based on historical collection rates for council tax, non domestic 
rates and other operational debtors. If collection rates were to worsen by 5%, the Council 
would need to make extra provision of £200k for its share of collection fund debts, and £100k 
for other types of debt.   
 
Provisions. Provision has been made for the estimated resolution of a small number of 
issues. In particular, based on past experience, provision has been made for settling a 
number of outstanding insurance claims, and business rate appeals. Most provisions are 
short term and expected to be paid out in the next twelve months. There is cover for any likely 
variations within earmarked reserves for contingent liabilities. 
 
Employee benefits. An accrual has been made in the accounts for the cost of untaken annual 
leave, lieu time and flexi time at the year end. Lieu time and flexi time are based on 
representative sampling undertaken in previous years across employees, grades and 
directorates. The proportion of days to be accrued for lieu time and flexi time has remained 
relatively static (varying around the average between +14% and -17%). A change of 50% 
would result in a change of £0.1m in the accrual.  
 
Net pensions liability. Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of 
complex judgements relating to the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries and 
pensions paid are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages and mortality rates. A 
firm of actuaries is engaged to provide the Council with expert advice about the assumptions 
to be applied. Illustrative examples of the sensitivity of results to these key assumptions are 
given in note 35. 
 
30   Adjustment between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations 
As tax raising bodies, there are specific rules as to how tax rates are to be set in relation to 
the income and expenses of the authority. These rules differ substantially from proper 
accounting practices, requiring adjustments to those accounting charges which are not 
required under statutory provisions to be met from council tax (notably retirement costs, asset 
valuations and depreciation charges). This note details the adjustments made and the 
reserves to which these entries have been moved before calculating the actual effect on 
general fund balances and future capital financing resources. 
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2015/16 General Usable capital Capital grants Collection Movement
fund receipts unapplied fund in unusable

balance reserve reserve adjust. a/c reserves
Adjustments involving the capital 
adjustment a/c
Reversal of items charged to the CIES

Charges for depreciation/impairment of 
non current assets 40,073 -40,073

Revaluation of PPE -10,014 10,014

Movements in the market value of 
investment properties

-35 35

Movements in the market value of held for 
sale assets

7,960 -7,960

Amortisation of intangible assets 20 -20

Capital grants and contributions -34,290 22,081 12,209

Net revenue expenditure funded from 
capital under statute 1,202 -1,202

Amounts of non current assets written off 
on disposal or sale 8,113 -8,113

Insertion of items not charged to the CIES

Minimum revenue provision for repayment 
of debt

-4,462 4,462

Voluntary provision for repayment of debt 0 0

Capital expenditure funded from revenue -4,120 4,120

Adjustments involving the capital 
receipts reserve

Sale proceeds -616 616 0

Other capital receipts -56 56 0

Payment to the housing receipts pool 1 -1 0

Use of the capital receipts reserve to 
finance new capital expenditure

-2,785 2,785

Adjustments involving the pensions 
reserve

Reversal of IAS19 pension charges 28,003 -28,003

Employers' pension contributions -16,128 16,128

Adjustments involving the collection 
fund adjustment a/c
Collection fund income recognised in the 
CIES

-103,255 103,255 0

Collection fund income recognised under 
statute 103,324 -103,324 0

Adjustments involving the 
accumulated absences a/c

Accrual for holiday pay and similar items -554 554

Total adjustments 15,166 -2,114 22,081 -69 -35,064
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General Usable capital Capital grants Collection Movement
2014/15 fund receipts unapplied fund in unusable

balance reserve reserve adjust. a/c reserves
Adjustments involving the capital 
adjustment a/c

Reversal of items charged to the CIES

Charges for depreciation/impairment of 
non current assets

70,885 -70,885

Revaluation of PPE -8,132 8,132

Movements in the market value of 
investment properties

215 -215

Movements in the market value of held for 
sale assets

119 -119

Capital grants and contributions -9,790 1,416 8,374

Net revenue expenditure funded from 
capital under statute

1,110 -1,110

Amounts of non current assets written off 
on disposal or sale

19,571 -19,571

Insertion of items not charged to the CIES

Minimum revenue provision -7,381 7,381

Voluntary provision for repayment of debt -1,203 1,203

Captal expenditure funded from revenue -3,846 3,846

Adjustments involving the capital 
receipts reserve

Sale proceeds -975 975 0

Other capital receipts -25 30 -5

Payment to the housing receipts pool 2 -2 0

Use of the capital receipts reserve to 
finance new capital expenditure

-2,528 2,528

Adjustments involving the pensions 
reserve

Reversal of IAS19 pension charges 25,378 -25,378

Employers' pension contributions -15,578 15,578

Adjustments involving the collection 
fund adjustment a/c
Collection fund income recognised in the 
CIES

-102,298 102,298 0

Collection fund income recognised under 
statute

101,576 -101,576 0

Adjustments involving the 
accumulated absences a/c

Accrual for holiday pay and similar items -6 6

Total adjustments 69,622 -1,525 1,416 722 -70,235
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31 Unusable reserves  
 
Unusable reserves are those reserves arising from: - 

 specific asset and liability revaluations (e.g. fixed asset revaluations and pension fund 
actuarial gains and losses). These gains and losses are not reflected in the 
surplus/deficit on the provision of services as they do not arise from operating 
performance but are as yet unrealised gains and losses arising from revaluations. 
They are included, however, in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement which brings together all the gains and losses for the period which need to 
be considered when assessing the financial result. 

 accounting adjustments reconciling costs identified in line with accounting 
requirements to those required by statute (e.g. transfers to the accumulated 
absences account). Transfers between reserves are summarised in note 31 showing 
all the adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations. 
They are explained in more detail below. 

 
Capital Adjustment Account 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the 
acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. The 
accounting charges to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for 
depreciation; asset valuations and disposals; and expenditure funded by capital resources 
are reversed through the Movement in Reserves statement and charged to the capital 
adjustment account. There are also movements from the revaluation reserve to convert 
current and fair value figures to a historical cost basis. The Account is credited with amounts 
set aside by the Council to repay debt, or as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction 
and enhancement of fixed assets. 
 
The Account contains accumulated gains and losses on investment properties, heritage 
assets and held for sale assets. The Account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on 
Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve 
was created to hold such gains. 
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2014/15 2015/16
£'000 £'000

202,450 Balance at 1st April 151,857
Reversal of items relating to capital 
expenditure debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement:

-70,885        Charges for depreciation and 
impairment of non current assets

-40,073

8,132        Revaluation gains on Property, Plant 
and Equipment

10,014

0        Amortisation of intangible assets -20
-1,110       Net revenue expenditure funded from 

capital under statute

-1,202

-19,571        Amounts of non current assets written 
off on disposal or sale as part of the 
gain/loss on disposal of Fixed Assets in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement

-8,090

-83,434 -39,371

9,843
Adjusting amounts written out of the 
Revaluation Reserve

9,252

-73,591
Net written out amount of the cost of non 

current assets consumed in the year
-30,119

Capital financing applied in the year:
2,528        Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to 

finance new capital expenditure
2,785

0        Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to 
repay debt

0

5,702        Capital grants and contributions 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement that have been 
applied to capital financing

4,437

2,672        Application of grants to capital financing 
from the Capital Grants Unapplied Account

7,772

8,584        Provision for the financing of capital 
investment charged against the General 
Fund

4,462

3,846        Capital expenditure charged against the 
General Fund

4,120

     23,332 Total capital financing applied in the year      23,576 

-215 Movements in the market value of 
Investment Properties debited or credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement

35

-119 Movements in the market value of Held for 
Sale assets debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement

-7,960

0 Movements in the valuation of Heritage 
assets debited or credited to the 

0

0
Remeasurement of PFI scheme liability

739

-334 Total other adjustments -7,186

151,857 Balance at 31st March 138,128

Capital adjustment account
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Revaluation Reserve 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Council arising from increases in 
the value of its land and property holdings. The balance is reduced when assets with 
accumulated gains are: -  

 revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
 depreciated, with the reserve being written down by that part of the depreciation 

charge incurred only because assets have been revalued 
 disposed of and the gains are realised 

 
The reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the 
reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date have been consolidated 
into the balance on the capital adjustment account. 
 

2014/15 2015/16
£'000 £'000

134,738 Balance at 1st April 180,968

83,985 Upward revaluation of assets 19,049

-27,912
Downward revaluation of assets and 
impairment losses not charged to the 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

-63,057

56,073

Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-

current assets not posted to the Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of Services

-44,008

-4,753
Difference between fair value depreciation 
and historical cost depreciation -7,711

-5,090
Accumulated gains on assets sold or 
scrapped

-1,541

-9,843
Amount written off to the Capital Adjustment 

Account
-9,252

180,968 Balance at 31st March 127,708

Revaluation reserve

 
 
Pensions Reserve 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements 
for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with 
statutory provisions. The Council accounts for post-employment benefits in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees 
accruing years of service. Liabilities are updated to recognise the effect of inflation, and 
assumptions are amended for investment returns and any resources set aside to meet the 
costs.  However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed both by 
employee contributions, and by the Council making employer contributions to pension funds, 
or paying any pensions for which it is directly responsible. The debit balance on the Pensions 
Reserve shows a shortfall between the benefits earned by past and current employees, and 
the resources the Council has set aside to meet them. Statutory arrangements ensure that 
funding should have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. 
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2014/15 2015/16
£'000 £'000

-197,723 Balance at 1st April -251,113

-43,590
Actuarial gains or losses on pensions 
assets and liabilities

24,056

-25,378 Reversal of items relating to retirement 
benefits debited or credited to the Surplus 
or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

-28,003

15,578 Employer’s pensions contributions and 
direct payments to pensioners payable in 
the year

16,128

-251,113 Balance at 31 March -238,932

Pensions reserve

 
 
 
Accumulated Absences Account 
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on 
the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in 
the year e.g. annual leave entitlement, lieu and flexi leave carried forward at 31 March.  
Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is neutralised 
by transfers to or from this Account. 
 

2014/15 2015/16
£'000 £'000
-3,483 Balance at 1st April -3,477
3,483 Settlement or cancellation of accrual made 

at the end of the preceding year
3,477

-3,477 Amounts accrued at the end of the current 
year

-2,923

6 Amount by which officer remuneration 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement on an accruals 
basis is different from remuneration 
chargeable in the year in accordance with 
statutory requirements

554

-3,477 Balance at 31st March -2,923

Accumulated absences account

 
 

32  Cash Flow 

The cash flows from operating activities include the following items: - 
 

2014/15 2015/16
£'000 £'000
-352     Dividends Received -336
-487     Interest Received -506

8,734     Interest Paid 8,838  
  

The surplus/deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following non cash 
movements. 
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2014/15 2015/16
£'000 £'000

Non cash movements
-19,387 Depreciation and amortisation -21,183

-43,700
Impairments/downward revaluation through the 
revenue a/c -16,821

-229 Change in provisions -1,087
-7,930 Change in debtors/creditors -610

-279 Change in inventories 14
-9,800 Change in pension liability -11,875

-19,571 Non current assets sold -8,113
-100,896 -59,675  

 
 
The surplus/deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following that are 
investing and financing activities. 
 

2014/15 2015/16
£'000 £'000

Items that are investing and financing activities

1,000
Proceeds from the sale of PPE, Investment 
Property and held for sale assets 672

9,790
Capital grants recognised in year as financing cash 
flows 34,290

10,790 34,962  
 
 
 
33 Financial Instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract which gives rise to a financial asset of one entity (such 
as cash, an equity instrument or a right to receive cash or an equity instrument) and a 
financial liability of another (such as an obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset).  
 
The council has the following types of financial assets and liabilities. 

 Available for sale assets includes all equity and other tradable investments 
which are not held specifically for the purposes of trading. 

 Loans and Receivables are those financial assets not quoted in an active 
market and have fixed or determinable payments. 

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost are all those financial liabilities not held 
for trading 
 

Although often the same, the carrying value of a financial asset or liability can sometimes 
differ from its fair value. The fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the balance 
sheet date.  

 
Financial instruments included in the Balance Sheet, along with their fair values, are analysed 
below. 
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Financial Instruments Carrying 
Amount

Fair 
Value

Carrying 
Amount

Fair 
Value

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial Assets

Available for Sale
Equity Homebuy Scheme 839       839       871       871       

Loans and Receivables
Long term debtors 1,788     1,788     1,972     1,972     
Current debtors 19,403   19,403   19,003   19,003   
Short term investments 82,300   82,300   72,700   72,700   
Cash and cash equivalents 10,665   10,665   9,331     9,331     

Total financial assets 114,995 114,995 103,877 103,877 

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings 82,836   111,700 97,755   125,800 
PFI and other long term liabilities 39,428   56,300   41,892   59,000   
Current creditors 34,770   34,770   32,965   32,965   
Long term creditors -        -        309       309       
Bank overdraft -        -        427       427       

Total financial liabilities 157,034 202,770 173,348 218,501 

31st March 2016 31st March 2015

 
 
 
Financial assets 
 
Available for sale assets  

Under the equity homebuy scheme, loans may be offered to to facilitate the decanting of 
householders from sites which are being redeveloped for social housing, and to enable 
affected parties to buy properties elsewhere. These loans are repayable and legal charges 
have been put on the properties to ensure repayment on sale. Cash loans are shown below 
as loans and receivables. Equity loans represent a share of equity in the purchased property, 
and are treated as available for sale investments. These are valued at a fair value of £0.8m 
using appropriate property inflation rates.  

Changes in fair values are taken to the Available-for-Sale reserve. Negative balances would 
be written down to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement if there were a 
prolonged decline in fair values, or other clear evidence of impairment. In the absence of 
such evidence, a negative balance is held in this reserve (representing fair values below 
cost), pending future revaluations. 
 
 
Loans and Receivables  
 

 Long Term Debtors   
The Council has a small number of debtors being repaid over various periods longer than 
one year. These are shown in the Balance Sheet at principal outstanding. 

2014/15 ANALYSIS OF 2015/16
£'000 LONG TERM DEBTORS £'000
694        Cash homebuy / improvement schemes 694         

1,041     Loans to Academy schools 893         
237        Other 201         

1,972     1,788       
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Cash homebuy scheme loans are loans advanced as detailed above. Repayments are 
determinable as their value is not linked to the value of the property. Loans to Academy 
schools are sums previously advanced by the Council for building work at schools which the 
schools were repaying with interest in accordance with an agreed timetable. The Academies 
have undertaken to continue with these repayments, and the sum due has been recognised 
on transfer as a capital receipt.  
 

 Current Debtors   
The sum of £19.403m (other operational debtors and public body debtors net of allowance for 
credit losses) has been included in current financial assets. Council tax and business rate 
arrears are statutory debts and do not arise from contracts and so do not class as financial 
assets, and prepayments are not included as financial assets as they are not contracts giving 
rise to financial assets and liabilities. 

 
 Short term investments 

The Council holds a number of short term investments at the 31st March. These relate to 
surplus cash balances held over the year end and lent out temporarily as part of treasury 
management operations to financial institutions and local authorities. To mitigate against the 
risk of loss, the Council places investment limits (approved annually) on each organisation 
(excluding the Bank of England and UK Government) depending on its credit rating and asset 
base. The current maximum investment of £20m at any one time is reserved for other local 
authorities, and applies also to clearing banks with maximum Fitch and Moody’s credit ratings 
of F1+ and P-1 respectively, combined with assets over £400bn (Fitch and Moody’s are 
global credit rating agencies). There are other levels in place which range from £15m to £2m 
depending on an organisation’s rating and asset base. The minimum credit rating used is F2 
(Fitch) and P-2 (Moody’s) signifying a strong capacity to make timely settlement of 
commitments. All of the Council’s counterparties operate in the UK. 

The Council has not suffered any counterparty defaults during the year. The deposits 
invested at the year end have been assessed for impairment by looking at each institution’s 
credit rating and general standing. It has not been considered necessary to write off or impair 
any of the investments held at the balance sheet date.  
 
Investment income from all financial assets (principally short term investments) is credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and shown as part of financing and 
investment income and expenditure. It varies with interest rate fluctuations and the level of 
cash balances available to the Council. It is monitored regularly, and prudent forecasts of 
anticipated future market conditions in the coming year are made as part of the annual 
budget setting process. 

 Cash and cash equivalents 
This is cash balances held in individual school bank accounts as part of the delegated 
financial management of schools (£9.0m); and other temporary cash holdings by the Council. 
 
 

.Financial liabilities 
 

 Borrowings  
All borrowings are shown at amortised cost which for these loans is the same as principal 
outstanding. Of the total borrowings of £82.8m, £82.6m has been borrowed from the PWLB, 
with £0.2m being borrowed from other sources such as other financial institutions, local 
authorities and other bodies. Contractual obligations (both principal repayments and 
associated interest charges) arising from Council borrowings are detailed below. 
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2014/15 2015/16
Principal Interest due ANALYSIS OF Principal Interest due 

to maturity LOANS BY MATURITY to maturity
£'000 £'000 AT 31st MARCH £'000 £'000

6,421         113            Maturing within one year 4,221         201            
4,000         400            Maturing within 1 - 2 years 4,000         300            

13,900        2,542         Maturing within 2 - 5 years 5,900         1,053         
21,618        8,158         Maturing within 5 - 10  years 21,678        8,089         
51,816        52,772        Maturing in more than 10 years 47,037        48,287        
97,755        63,985        Total borrowing 82,836        57,930         

 
As the Council has ready access to borrowings from the PWLB, there is no significant risk 
that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial instruments. 
The main risk is that the Council will need to replace a significant proportion of its borrowings 
at a time of unfavourable interest rates. The main treasury management strategy to deal with 
this is to manage the Council’s debt maturity profile so that it is as smooth as possible taking 
account of historic debt and available interest rates.  
 
All borrowings are at fixed rates and therefore unaffected by interest rate movements (though 
increases in interest rates would cause the fair value of debt to fall). Interest payable is 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and shown as part of 
financing and investment income and expenditure. 
 
There are a range of possible fair values for these borrowings at the balance sheet date. A 
fair value of £101.8m is based on the economic effect of the terms agreed with the PWLB 
compared with estimates of the terms that would be offered for market transactions 
undertaken at the balance sheet date. The difference between the carrying amount and the 
fair value measures the additional interest that the Council will pay over the remaining terms 
of the loans under the agreements with the PWLB, against what would be paid if the loans 
were at prevailing market rates. 

However, the Council has a continuing ability to borrow at concessionary rates from the 
PWLB rather than from the markets. A supplementary measure of the additional interest that 
the Council will pay as a result of its PWLB commitments for fixed rate loans is to compare 
the terms of these loans with the new borrowing rates available from the PWLB. The fair 
value on this basis would be £98.7m.  
 
However, if the Council were to seek to repay all PWLB debt at the balance sheet date, the 
sum required would be £111.7m. This amount is greater than the carrying amount as the 
portfolio of borrowings includes a number of fixed rate loans where the interest rate payable 
is greater than the rates available at the balance sheet date for similar loans. This 
commitment to pay above current market rates would be reflected in an early redemption 
penalty (a premium) charged by the PWLB, increasing the amount that the Council would 
have to pay. It is this calculation of fair value which is deemed to be the most appropriate. 
 
The fair value of other borrowing is the principal outstanding (£0.2m). 
 

 Other liabilities    
This reflects long term commitments by the Council relating to future rentals required under 
the schools PFI scheme, and to the repayment of other loan debt administered by Wakefield, 
Bradford and Leeds Councils in relation to transferred assets as part of statutory 
reorganisations of functions.  

These liabilities are carried at amortised cost which for these items is the same as principal 
outstanding. The fair value of these liabilities is £56.3m based on discounting future cash 
flows at prevailing interest rates. 
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Short term Long term Short term Long term
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

69            1,632          Loan debt 67            1,565        
1,656        38,535        PFI scheme liability 1,457        36,339      
1,725        40,167        Total 1,524        37,904      

2014/15 2015/16
ANALYSIS OF OTHER LIABILITIES

 
 

 Current creditors    
The total of £34.770m for operational creditors and public body creditors has been included in 
financial liabilities. All other categories of creditor arise from statutory debts (council tax and 
business rates), are governed by more specific reporting standards (pension fund and 
accumulated absences), or are not contracts giving rise to financial assets and liabilities 
(deferred income). 
 
 
 
34 Pension Costs 

 
The Council makes payment into 3 contributory final salary defined benefit pension schemes. 
These provide members with index linked pensions based on final salaries and length of 
service (although from April 2014 the local government scheme has been based on career 
average from that date rather than final salary).  
 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 
The LGPS is a statutory scheme and the benefits are paid under the provisions of LGPS 
Regulations. This is a funded scheme meaning that members and the employer pay 
contributions into a fund, with these contributions being calculated at a level to balance 
pension liabilities and investment assets over the expected lifetime of the membership. 
 
The West Yorkshire Pension Fund (WYPF) is part of the LGPS. The City of Bradford 
Metropolitan District Council is the administering authority for WYPF and therefore has overall 
legal and strategic responsibility for it. Bradford Council’s administering authority 
responsibilities are met by WYPF’s in-house pension’s administration and investment teams. 
 
The fund is advised by two boards - the WYPF Investment Advisory Panel and the WYPF 
Joint Advisory Group. The Investment Advisory Panel, which establishes the investment 
principles of the scheme, has 20 members, with two from Calderdale MBC. The Joint 
Advisory Group, which oversees the administration of the fund and responds to legislative 
changes, has 20 members with three Calderdale representatives. 
 
The Council has about 5,000 active members, 5,000 pensioners and dependants and 5,000 
deferred pensioners in the Scheme. Total scheme membership is over 250,000 and there are 
over 380 individual bodies participating in the scheme. Employer contributions paid by the 
Council in 2015/16 were £14.2m. Total payments into the fund are approximately £370m. 
 
Contributions to the scheme aim to balance scheme assets and liabilities. The risks are that 
investment performance may be lower than forecast, or that assets held (in the expectation of 
greater returns) do not match expected benefit payments. Liabilities, on the other hand, 
increase as members live longer and as pay and inflation rates rise, increasing the amount of 
pensions which have to be paid out in the future. Liabilities extend many years into the future. 
The weighted average period over which benefits fall due is 18 years. 

Employer contributions are determined following a formal actuarial valuation, carried out at 
least once every three years by an independent professionally qualified actuary. This makes 
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a prudent assessment of the amount of assets to be set aside to meet forecast future pension 
commitments, discounted back to the valuation date using a rate which takes into account 
future expected investment returns. The last formal valuation was carried out as at 31st March 
2013, and this showed that assets were sufficient to cover 96% of the estimated liability for 
pension benefit payments. A low-risk measure (assuming returns no higher than those from 
gilts) reduces asset coverage to 63%. 

Although it is a multi-employer defined benefit plan, there is no cross subsidy, and individual 
employer contributions are determined with reference to the contributing Authority’s 
membership, funding profiles, and particular circumstances. Going forward, the Council will 
continue to pay employer contributions at a rate of 14.4%. This is the employer contribution 
rate (expressed as a percentage of pensionable pay) which is needed, together with 
employee contributions, to cover the cost of service being earned by current active members. 
As the Council’s funding position shows a deficit, additional contributions are being paid to 
recover the deficit over 22 years. This amount (£1.5m in 2015/16) will be adjusted annually in 
line with assumptions and reviewed to ensure the deficit is recovered over the proposed 
period. The Council builds these increases into its Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

All of the above contributions are calculated to help deliver the funding target of holding an 
appropriate level of assets within the pension fund to meet the benefits as they fall due. 
Employer contributions in 2016/17 are forecast to be £13.3m.  

The Council also pays to meet the unfunded costs of discretionary pension benefits as they 
become due. Added pensions are no longer given, but sometimes the Council will meet the 
cost of allowing employees to retire and draw their pensions earlier than usual where this 
generates longer term savings. Discretionary benefits are accounted for as defined benefit 
schemes. They are unfunded but the liabilities can be identified to the Council. The on-going 
cost of such contributions during the year was £1.1m. A similar amount is expected to be paid 
in 2016/17.  
 
Both funded and unfunded LGPS schemes are accounted for as defined benefit schemes. 

Other Employer Pension Schemes 
Employees are also members of two other schemes - The Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) 
and the NHS staff pension scheme. These schemes are unfunded (meaning there are no 
investment assets built up to meet pension liabilities). They are defined benefit schemes 
covering teachers, and a very small number of public health employees (who transferred 
across from the NHS on the transfer to the Council of the public health function).  The 
schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable the Council to identify its 
share of the underlying liabilities, and these cannot be estimated on a consistent and 
reasonable basis. These schemes are therefore accounted for as if it they were defined 
contribution schemes, with funding being generated to meet pension payments as they 
become due.  The cost to the Council of participating in the Scheme is therefore taken to be 
the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period. 

The Council has approximately 1,300 employees paying into the TPS scheme (which has a 
total membership of 1.8m from 7,000 participating employers and is administered by Capita 
Teachers’ Pensions on behalf of the DfE). The total paid in nationally is £5.7bn. Total 
employer contributions to the TPS were £5.8m (£5.5m in 2014/15). Expected contributions to 
the Teachers’ Pension Scheme in the year to 31st March 2017 are £6.2m, but this depends 
on the number of schools converting to academies. 

The Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) is “notionally funded”. This means that periodic 
valuations are carried out as though there was a fund. Contributions are set on the basis of 
these valuations. The current employer rate is 16.4%. As at 31 March 2015 (the date of the 
latest published accounts) the pension liabilities of the Scheme were valued at £275.4bn. 
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Contributions from members and employers are paid to the Exchequer, and the Exchequer 
effectively meets the cost of all benefits.  

As with the LGPS scheme, the Council is responsible for the costs of any additional benefits 
awarded to staff at its discretion outside the scheme. These on-going costs (£0.8m per 
annum) are met as they become due and are accounted for on a defined benefit basis and 
included in the figures reported for such schemes. 

The Council has 30 employees paying into the NHS scheme (which has a total membership 
of 2.8m from over 9,000 participating employers). Employer/employee contributions to the 
NHS pension fund totalled £0.2m from a national total contribution of £10bn. Expected 
contributions in 2015/16 are £0.2m. 

Contribution rates to the NHS scheme are set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the 
consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and 
appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate. The current 
employer rate is 14%. As at 31 March 2015 (the date of the latest published accounts) the 
pension liabilities of the Scheme were valued at £389.6 billion. As the NHS Pension Scheme 
is an unfunded scheme, these liabilities are underwritten by the Exchequer. In year deficits 
(where contributions paid out exceed contributions paid in), are met by the Exchequer, and in 
year surpluses (where contributions paid in exceed contributions paid out), are paid to the 
Exchequer. 
 
 
Accounting charges and asset and liability valuations under IAS 19 
 
IAS 19, the International Accounting Standard on employee benefits, requires the financial 
position of the pension funds to be reassessed at each balance sheet reporting date following 
a prescribed methodology. This produces results that are different from, and more volatile 
than, the actuarial valuation, as members’ liabilities at the balance sheet date are valued 
using market rates of corporate bonds and do not reflect the expected future returns on the 
assets the fund owns. This tends to increase the value of liabilities. Other key assumptions 
for the IAS 19 accounting valuation are based on those used for the most recent actuarial 
valuation (March 2013). In between triennial revaluations, some assumptions are updated 
annually (e.g. inflation, pay increases, discount rates, asset values) whilst others taking a 
longer term view (e.g. mortality rates, demographic factors) may not be. All the principal 
assumptions used by the actuary are shown below. 
 

Financial assumptions
2015/16 2014/15

RPI price inflation  (funded/unfunded) 2.9% 2.9%
CPI price inflation  (funded/unfunded) 1.8% 1.8%
Rate of Increase in salaries 3.3% 3.3%
Rate of increase in pensions  (funded/unfunded) 1.8% 1.8%
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities (funded/unfunded) 3.40% 3.2% / 3.1%
Take-up option for pension conversion to lump sum
    pre April 2010 entitlements 75.00% 75.00%
    post April 2010 entitlements 75.00% 75.00%

Mortality Assumptions:

   Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:
       men 22.7 22.6
       women 25.6 25.5
   Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:
       men 24.9 24.8
       women 28.0 27.8  
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The estimation of the net pension liability is sensitive to the financial and mortality 
assumptions used. The approximate impact on the net liability of changing key assumptions 
is shown below. In each case, only the assumption mentioned is changed (although in reality 
many of the assumptions are interrelated).  

£m %
0.1% change in discount rate 15 1.8
0.1% change in salary increases 3 0.4
0.1% change in pension increases 12 1.4
1 year change in member life expectancy 22 2.6

liability
Effect on

 

The assets of the pension funds as at 31st March 2016 were £642.9m (2015: £648.2m) and 
the accounting liabilities were calculated to be £881.8m (2015: £899.3m). Together, this 
resulted in an IAS 19 pension fund deficit of £238.9m (2015: £251.1m), a decrease of £12.2m 
(4.9%) over the year. 

The Council’s asset share (£642.9m) is invested as follows: - 

Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total
Equity investments 68.8 6.4 75.2 69.9 6.3 76.2
Government Bonds 10.7 0 10.7 10.6 0.0 10.6
Other Bonds 4.6 0 4.6 4.7 0.0 4.7
Property 4.9 0 4.9 4.3 0.0 4.3
Cash liquidity 1.3 0 1.3 1.9 0.0 1.9
Other assets 1.2 2.1 3.3 0.0 2.3 2.3
Total 91.5 8.5 100 91.4 8.6 100

% split of pension fund assets
 31st March 2015

%
 31st March 2016

%

 

Fuller details of fund asset holdings and maturity profiles can be found within the West 
Yorkshire pension fund valuation report. 

Movement in assets & liabilities and the impact on the surplus or deficit on the 
provision of services, and other comprehensive income and expenditure 
 
Pension benefits are earned by employees as part of their contracts. Although the pensions 
are not payable until the employees retire, the commitment which the Council has as the 
employer is recognised during the working lifetime of the employee. Pension contributions are 
invested in assets intended to provide funding at a future date when the pensions become 
due. Where the asset holdings fall short of expected commitments, there is said to be a net 
pension liability. Where asset holdings exceed expected commitments, there is said to be a 
net pension asset. The pension deficit is being addressed by revisions to the local 
government pension scheme introduced in April 2014 to reduce future benefits, and increase 
contributions by the employer and employee. 
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Pension accounting charges included within the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services were £28.0m. However, the statutory charge against council tax is based on the 
amounts payable by the Council to the pension fund in the year (£16.1m). Appropriations 
from a pensions reserve are made within the Movement in Reserves Statement to replace the 
real cost of retirement benefits with the statutory charge so that the additional costs of 
providing for retirement benefits in accordance with IAS19 do not impact on levels of local 
taxation. 

The following table shows the pensions costs and income charged during the year into the 
accounts in accordance with IAS 19 and the effect of these on the net pensions liability. 

Total
IAS 19 pensions accounting charges (£'000) Net Expenses (gains)/losses

pension recognised recognised
Assets Liabilities liability in SDOPS in OCIE

Value as at 1st April 2015 648,206 -899,319 -251,113 
Current service costs -19,341 -19,341 19,341
Past service cost -900 -900 900
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability -7,762 7,762
Of which: - interest on the defined benefit obligation -28,360 
               - interest income on plan assets 20,598
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability
  - on plan assets -17,083 -17,083 17,083
  - on liabilities - financial assumptions 32,332 32,332 -32,332 
  - on liabilities - demographic assumptions 0 0 0
  - on liabilities - experience 8,807 8,807 -8,807 
Employer contributions 16,128 16,128
Contributions by plan participants 4,974 -4,974 0
Net benefits paid out -29,966 29,966 0

Value as at 31st March 2016 642,857      881,789-      238,932-      28,003        24,056-         

Adjustment to charges made in accordance with IAS 19 to the amount required under regulations 11,875-        

Amount falling due to be met by council taxpayers (employer contributions to the scheme) 16,128          

All of the assets belong to the LGPS scheme. Liabilities are split between the LGPS funded 
scheme (£857.7m), and the unfunded effect of pension enhancements previously awarded 
(£14.8m LGPS and £9.3m TPS). The corresponding figures in 2015 were £872.9m, £16.2m 
and £10.2m respectively. 
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Total
IAS 19 pensions accounting charges (£'000) Net Expenses (gains)/losses

pension recognised recognised
Assets Liabilities liability in SDOPS in OCIE

Value as at 1st April 2014 585,312 -783,035 -197,723 
Current service costs -16,497 -16,497 16,497
Past service cost -729 -729 729
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability -8,152 8,152
Of which: - interest on the defined benefit obligation -33,200 -33,200 
               - interest income on plan assets 25,048 25,048
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability
  - on plan assets 43,444 43,444 -43,444 
  - on liabilities - financial assumptions -91,790 -91,790 91,790
  - on liabilities - demographic assumptions 0 0 0
  - on liabilities - experience 4,756 4,756 -4,756 
Employer contributions 15,578 15,578
Contributions by plan participants 5,026 -5,026 0
Net benefits paid out -26,202 26,202 0

Value as at 31st March 2015 648,206      899,319-      251,113-      25,378        43,590         

Adjustment to charges made in accordance with IAS 19 to the amount required under regulations 9,800-          

Amount falling due to be met by council taxpayers (employer contributions to the scheme) 15,578         

35 Post balance sheet event 

Following the majority vote to end the UK’s membership of the European Union (EU) in the 
referendum held on 23 June 2016 there is a heightened level of volatility in the financial 
markets as a result of increased political and macroeconomic uncertainty.  Article 50 of the 
Treaty on European Union allows a member state to notify the EU of its withdrawal and 
obliges the EU to try to negotiate a withdrawal agreement over a two-year negotiation period 
setting out the arrangements for its withdrawal, taking account of the framework for its future 
relationship with the Union.  It is not known yet when (or if) Article 50 will be triggered but the 
Prime Minister has indicated that it is unlikely to happen before the end of 2016. During this 
negotiation period it is understood EU laws would still apply to the UK and the UK would 
continue to participate in other EU business as normal.  Three areas stand out having the 
potential to affect the Council in particular in future – Investments and borrowings, the 
pension fund deficit and European funding. 

Although there has been a negative reaction from the main credit rating agencies, UK 
Government bonds rates (and therefore those too of the Public Works Loan Board PWLB) 
have declined counter-intuitively since the referendum.  The Council’s debt portfolio is at fixed 
rates and therefore this movement does not affect it in the short term but if rates were to 
remain depressed then any future restructuring of the Council’s debt portfolio would become 
more expensive.  The Council’s direct cash investments are all denominated in £ Sterling so 
any currency exchange rate fluctuations due to Brexit should have no impact.   Some of the 
Council’s counterparties’ long term credit ratings have also been downgraded but not the 
short term ratings which the Council uses (as our investments have short dated 
maturities).  Some of the short term credit ratings though are on negative watch so the 
Council will continue to monitor the impact on financial institutions’ credit ratings and adjust 
our investment policy accordingly.  The Council itself does not hold its own credit rating so no 
further impact has been felt so far.   The recent base rate cut announced by the Bank of 
England may have an effect on the Treasury Management Strategy and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy.  However, given that interest rates were already exceptionally low by 
historical standards, the down side risk to the Council’s budget is not considered significant. 

Another major financial issue could be the potential impact on the Council’s share of the West 
Yorkshire Pension Fund assets of £642.9m.  There is no consistent opinion over the impact 
Brexit will have in the future on the valuation of investments and the nature of the impact is 
likely to vary dependant on what the fund is predominantly invested in.  A large proportion of 
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these assets are already subject to market volatility which could now be enhanced.  A 
significant proportion of the Fund’s investments are held in UK shares and may be vulnerable 
to short term changes in share prices (both up and down).  Conversely any foreign owned 
investments may rise in value (along with their yields) if the pound drops against other 
currencies.  The Pension Fund’s obligations to current and future pensioners should not be 
unduly impacted as these liabilities are denominated in pounds.  The triennial review of the 
pension fund is due to be carried out this year so its effect on the Council’s net deficit position 
will be closely monitored. 

The UK was due to receive some £5.3 billion in European Union structural funds in the 2014-
2020 programming period and the Council has applied for a share of these funds both direct 
and via larger regional schemes.  It is not yet clear for how long instalments of these funds 
will be paid but it is likely to depend on the eventual date on which the UK leaves the 
European Union.  There is also the potential for the UK Government to agree to honour the 
funding should the UK leave the EU but again this is subject to future political decisions 
outside the control of local authorities. 

A cross party working party has been set up by the Council to consider issues arising as a 
result of Brexit as they materialise. 

 
36    Authorisation 
 

Relevant events after the balance sheet date have been considered up to 19th September 
2016. This is the date on which these statements of accounts were authorised for issue by 
the Head of Finance. Any events taking place after the year end but before the date of 
authorisation are considered and reflected only where the event provides information on 
conditions existing at the balance sheet date. Events taking place after the date of 
authorisation are not reflected in the financial statements or notes. 
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E Accounting Policies 

The statement of accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the financial year to 31st 
March, and its financial position as at that date. The Accounts and Audit (England) 
Regulations 2015 require that these statements are prepared in accordance with proper 
practices and signed by the responsible finance officer by 30th June, and then formally signed 
by the Council and published by 30th September together with the audit certificate/opinion. 
Proper practices are based on IFRS standards as incorporated into the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16.  
 
The selected accounting policies have been applied to all material items for inclusion in the 
accounting statements and disclosure notes. Only those items which are insignificant within 
the context of the financial statements and whose exclusion does not impair the reliability or 
interpretation of the financial information provided have been omitted from inclusion. 
 
Accounting policies are determined by the Code. Where the Code is not explicit, unless there 
are any specific legislative requirements (which always take precedence), accounting 
treatment will be determined by application of IFRS or similar standards; the framework for 
preparing and presenting financial statements; or issued guidance notes.  
 
In selecting appropriate policies and accounting treatment, judgement has been exercised to 
ensure that, through a balanced and sensible application of competing qualitative 
characteristics, costs and time, the resulting accounting statements both faithfully reflect the 
substance of the transactions and other events that have taken place by being free from 
material error, exaggeration or systematic bias, and are relevant in enabling an assessment 
of the stewardship of public funds and the making of any economic decisions based on 
materially significant disclosures. The statements are presented in such a way as to be 
comparable between accounting periods, and understandable to those with a reasonable 
knowledge of local government and accounting practices. Although this is unavoidably quite a 
technical document, every effort has been made to explain either in the text or the glossary, 
any technical terms necessarily involved.  
 
Accounting policies have been chosen to give a true and fair view of the financial transactions 
of the Council.  
 
 
37.   Accounting policies 
 
Accruals of Income and Expenditure  
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are 
made or received. In particular: 

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Council transfers the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that 
economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
Council. 

 Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Council can measure 
reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that 
economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
Council.  

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. Where there is a gap 
between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as 
inventories on the Balance Sheet.  

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) 
are recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when 
payments are made.  
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 Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for 
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for 
the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the 
contract.  

 Tax income is an annual charge and is recognised in the year in which it is due when 
it is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Council, and the amount of revenue can be reliably 
measured. 

 Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been 
received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the 
Balance Sheet. Where debts may not be settled, an allowance for credit losses has 
been made and charged to revenue for the income that might not be collected.  

 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments maturing 
within three months from the date of acquisition and are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash with no risk of change in value. In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash 
equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an 
integral part of the Council’s cash management. 
 
Collection Fund 
Billing authorities are required by statute to maintain a separate fund for the collection and 
distribution of amounts due in respect of council tax and non-domestic rates (NDR). The key 
feature of the accounting policy is that billing authorities act as agent collecting and 
distributing monies on behalf of the Government and other council tax and NDR preceptors.   
 
The total of non domestic rate and council tax income included in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement is the accrued income for the year due to the Council. 
Regulations specify that sums to be released from the collection fund to the general fund 
should be the Council’s precept plus any share of the previous year’s surplus or deficit. Any 
difference between the income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the general fund is taken 
to the collection fund adjustment account and included in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 
 
Debtor and creditor balances relating to individual council taxpayers are apportioned between 
all preceptors. Debtor and creditor balances relating to individual non domestic rates are 
apportioned between the Government and all preceptors. Only the Council’s share of these 
balances is recognised on the Balance Sheet. Any difference between cash collected on 
behalf of the Government or other preceptors and cash paid over to them is included as a 
creditor (where more cash has been collected than paid over) or a debtor. 
 
The Cash Flow Statement includes as operating activities only the Council’s share of council 
tax and non domestic rates collected in the year, and the net cost of pursuing arrears. As 
cash is collected as agent on behalf of the Government and other preceptors, monies paid 
over to them are not revenue activities of the Council and are excluded from operating 
activities. Cash held as agent, being the difference between Government and other 
preceptors’ cash collected and paid over, is included in other receipts/payments within 
financing activities. 
 
Contingent Assets  
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 
asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Council. Contingent assets are not 
recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where it is probable 
that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential.  
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Contingent Liabilities 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Council. Contingent liabilities also arise in 
circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note 
to the accounts.  
 
Employee benefits 
Benefits Payable During Employment  
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. 
They include accrued annual leave, lieu time and flexi time earned by employees but not 
taken before the year-end, which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. 
They are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render 
service to the Council. The accrual is made at the pay rates applicable in the following 
accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit. The accrual is 
charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the 
Movement in Reserves Statement so that such benefits are charged against council tax in the 
financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.  
 
Termination Benefits  
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to 
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date, or an officer’s decision 
to accept voluntary redundancy. They are charged to service costs in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement when the Council can no longer withdraw the offer of 
those benefits. 
 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require 
the General Fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the 
pension fund, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In 
the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions 
Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination 
benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and any such 
amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  
 
Post Employment Benefits 
Pension schemes which provide defined benefits to members, but where the liabilities for 
these benefits cannot be identified to the Council on a consistent and reasonable basis, are 
accounted for as defined contribution schemes. No liability for future payments of benefits is 
recognised on the Balance Sheet. 
 
The Council has employees in two such schemes  - the Teachers’ Pension Scheme, and the 
NHS Staff Pension Scheme. These schemes are unfunded which means that there are no 
investment assets built up to meet pension liabilities, and funding has to be generated to 
meet pension payments as they become due. 
 
The Children’s and Education Services, Public Health and Adult Social Care lines in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are charged with the employer’s 
contributions payable to those schemes in the year.  
 
Pension schemes providing to members defined benefits (retirement lump sums and 
pensions) earned as employees working for the Council, are accounted for as defined benefit 
schemes. All retirement benefits are accounted for in accordance with the relevant reporting 
standard IAS19 which stipulates how such commitments are to be recognised in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and on the Balance Sheet.  
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The Council has employees in one such scheme – the Local Government Pensions Scheme. 
This is a funded scheme administered by the West Yorkshire Pension Fund (WYPF). 
Payments calculated to balance pension liabilities and assets over time, are made by both 
the Council and its employees into a fund.  
 
The liabilities of the scheme attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet on 
an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, i.e. an assessment of the future payments 
that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on 
assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates etc. and projections of projected 
earnings for current employees. Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices. 
 
The assets of the fund attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet at fair 
value based on current bid price (securities), market value (property) and professional 
estimate for unquoted assets.  
 
There are a number of components which contribute to the calculation of the net pension 
liability:  
 
Service cost comprising: - 

 Current service cost. The value of pension benefits earned by the active employees 
in the year, net of the contributions paid by those employees in respect of those 
benefits. This increase in scheme liabilities is charged in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked.  

 Past service cost. The increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions 
whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years. These costs are 
charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed Costs. 

 Net interest on the defined liability. This is the change in the present value of net 
liabilities during the year as benefits move one year closer to being paid. The charge 
is calculated by multiplying the net liability at the start of the period by the discount 
rate at that date. This is debited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
Remeasurements comprising: - 

 Return on plan assets. This contains the difference between the actual return for the 
year on the fund assets assumed to be notionally allocated to the employer, and the 
interest income included in the net interest on the defined liability calculated above. 
These amounts are charged to the Pensions Reserve as other comprehensive 
income and expenditure. 

 Actuarial gains and losses. These are changes in the net pensions liability that arise 
because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial 
valuation (experience gains/losses), or because the actuaries have updated their 
financial and demographic assumptions. These amounts are charged to the 
Pensions Reserve as other comprehensive income and expenditure. 

 
Contributions to pension funds: - 

 Contributions paid to the WYPF. This includes cash paid by employees, as well as 
employer contributions to the pension fund. Employer contributions are not 
accounted for as an expense in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement which reflects the current service cost. 

  

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be 
charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund, not the amount 
calculated according to the relevant accounting standard (IAS19). There are appropriations in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the 
notional debits and credits for retirement benefits, and replace them with debits for the cash 
paid to the pension fund and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. This 
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ensures that the additional costs of providing for retirement benefits in accordance with IAS19 
do not impact on levels of local taxation.  
 
The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial 
impact to the General Fund of being permitted to fund retirement benefits on the basis of 
cash flows rather than on the basis of benefits earned by employees in line with accounting 
requirements.  
 
Discretionary Benefits 
The Council can make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of early 
retirement or voluntary redundancy. Liabilities estimated to arise as a result of any such 
award to any member of staff (including teachers) are accrued in the year of the award, and 
are accounted for as defined benefit schemes using the same policies as are applied to the 
WYPF scheme.  
 
Events after the balance sheet date 
Events after the balance sheet date are those that occur between the end of the reporting 
period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. The Statement 
of Accounts is adjusted to reflect those events that provide evidence of conditions that existed 
at the end of the reporting period. Where the event is indicative of conditions that arose after 
the reporting period, appropriate disclosures are made, but the amounts in the Statement of 
Accounts have not been adjusted. Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue 
are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Exceptional items 
When items of income and expenditure are material, their nature and amount is disclosed 
separately either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, or in 
the notes to the accounts.  
 
Prior period adjustments, changes in accounting policies and estimates and errors. 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct 
a material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the 
current and future years affected by the change. They do not give rise to a prior period 
adjustment.  
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices, 
statutory requirements, or where the change provides more reliable or relevant information 
about the effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the Council’s financial 
position or financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively 
(unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the 
prior period as if the new policy had always been applied.  
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending 
opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period, together with appropriate 
explanatory disclosure notes. 
 
Financial Assets 
Financial instruments are contracts giving rise to a financial asset in one entity, and a 
financial liability in another.  
 
Financial assets are classified into two types:  

 Loans and Receivables – assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are not 
quoted in an active market. 

 Available for sale assets – assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not have 
fixed or determinable payments. 
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Loans and Receivables 
Loans and receivables are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based on the 
carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For 
the majority of loans and receivables, this means that the amount presented in the Balance 
Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable and interest credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan 
agreement.  
 
Where any significant soft loans are made (extended credit at less than market rates), a loss 
is recorded in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (debited to the 
appropriate service) for the present value of the interest that will be foregone over the life of 
the instrument, resulting in a lower amortised cost than the outstanding principal. Interest is 
credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement at the (higher) effective rate of interest rather than the 
rate receivable, with the difference serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the 
Balance Sheet. Statutory provisions require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund 
Balance is the interest receivable for the financial year. The reconciliation of amounts debited 
and credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the net gain 
required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or debited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Short duration receivables with no 
stated interest rate, and any small value loans considered immaterial for valuation as above 
are measured at the original invoice amount. 
 
Available for sale financial assets 
Available for sale assets are carried at fair value. Depending on the market for such assets, 
fair value might be the quoted market price (where there is one), cost less impairment, or 
other amount based on valuation techniques. Inputs used in measurement are categorised 
into three levels: - level 1 (quoted prices in active markets for identical assets); level 2 (other 
observable inputs); level 3 (unobservable inputs).  Measurements rely on inputs drawn from 
the highest available level.  
 
Gains and losses on re-measurement are taken to the available for sale (AFS) reserve and 
charged to other comprehensive income and expenditure, except where there is a prolonged 
decline in fair values or other clear evidence of impairment, in which case losses are taken to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. On derecognition of an asset, any gains/losses are recognised in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement along with any gains/losses 
previously recognised in the AFS reserve.  
 
Where an asset has fixed or determinable payments, annual credits to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement for interest receivable are based on the amortised cost of the asset multiplied by 
the effective rate of interest for the instrument. Where there are no fixed or determinable 
payments, income (e.g. dividends) is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement when it becomes receivable by the Council. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
Financial assets are assessed annually for impairment. Impairment losses are incurred if: - 

 There is objective evidence of impairment as a result of a past event occurring 
subsequent to the initial recognition of the asset, or 

 A collective assessment of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics (e.g. 
business rate debtors; council tax debtors; sundry debtors) suggests that, based on 
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past experience, the sums likely to be realised for the groups of financial assets being 
collectively assessed are likely to be lower than the carrying values of those groups. 
 

Impairment losses are charged to an appropriate revenue account (i.e. the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement or collection fund). 
 
Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. This 
is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments over the life of the instrument to the 
amount at which it was originally recognised. The financing costs (interest charges) 
determined by this method are taken to financing and investment income and expenditure 
within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
For the borrowings which the Council has, this results in the Council’s financial liabilities 
being included in the Balance Sheet at the outstanding principal repayable, and interest 
charged is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement.  
 
Premium payments and discounts on the repurchase or early settlement of debt are taken in 
year directly to financing and investment income and expenditure within the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement unless, in accordance with certain specific conditions, a 
repurchase/restructure has taken place and the modification to the financial instrument is not 
considered substantial. In such cases, the loan debt carrying amount is adjusted rather than 
being taken directly to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, and the 
adjustment is written down to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement over 
the life of the loan by an adjustment to the effective interest rate. 
 
There are no financial guarantees entered into by the Council after the 31st March 2007 which 
would need to be accounted for as financial instruments. Any financial guarantees given by 
the Council before that date are only included in the statement of accounts to the extent that 
provisions might be required or a contingent liability exists. 
 
Government grants and other contributions 
All grants and contributions are recognised as income within the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement when there is reasonable assurance that the Council will comply with 
the grant conditions, and the grants or contributions will be received. Conditions are 
stipulations requiring repayment of the grant if they are not met.  
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied 
are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or 
contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and 
contributions) or Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income (non-ringfenced revenue grants 
and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement,  
they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital  
Grants Unapplied Reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
The Council sometimes acts as Accountable Body for various partnerships and in that role 
receives grant funding on behalf of the partnership. Where it is considered that the Council 
determines partner allocations, the grant is recognised as income and allocations as 
expenditure. Where the Council does not exercise such control, only such grant as may 
ultimately be awarded to the Accountable Body is recognised as grant receivable. 
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Heritage Assets 
These are assets with historical, artistic, scientific, technological, geophysical or 
environmental qualities held principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture rather 
than for any operational reasons (mainly museum exhibits). They are held at valuation in 
accordance with FRS102. This is mainly insurance values, though some difficult to value 
items with no comparable market values have not been valued. Depreciation is not required 
for those assets with indefinite lives. Valuations are reviewed where there is clear evidence of 
impairment such as damage or doubts as to provenance. Gains and losses on disposal are 
included under other operating expenditure. Such charges are not permitted by statutory 
arrangements to have an impact on the General Fund Balance. Therefore these gains and 
losses are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater 
than £10k) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
Inventories  
Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  
 
Investment property 
Investment properties are separately identifiable properties used solely and specifically to 
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are measured initially at 
cost, or are revalued immediately prior to reclassification. They are subsequently measured 
at fair value, based on the amount that would be received to sell such an asset in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As a non-financial asset, 
investment properties are measured at highest and best use. Investment properties are not 
depreciated but valuations are assessed annually to ensure they reflect market conditions at 
the year-end.  
 
After initial recognition, gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. Gains and losses on disposal are included under other operating expenditure. 
Such charges are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact on the General 
Fund Balance. Therefore these gains and losses are reversed out of the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement, and posted to the Capital Adjustment 
Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
Income and expenditure relating to investment properties are also charged to the financing 
and investment income and expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  
 
Joint operations 
Joint operations are arrangements where the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the 
arrangement. The Council recognises its own assets and liabilities, income and expenses 
together with any held or incurred jointly.  
 
Leases   
Arrangements transferring substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Council 
or away from the Council are treated as finance lease acquisitions or disposals. All other 
arrangements are treated as operating leases. 
 
Finance leases. 
Finance lease acquisitions are recognised at current value on the Balance Sheet, and 
accounted for using the policies applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation 
being charged over the lease term if this is shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life 
(where ownership of the asset does not transfer to the Council at the end of the lease period). 
The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Premiums 
paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. Contingent rents are 
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charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. Subsequent lease payments 
are apportioned between:  

 a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment (applied 
to write down the lease liability), and  

 a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).  

 
Assets disposed of by way of finance leases are written out of the accounts like any other 
asset sale. A long term debtor is recognised for the capital receipt from the disposal. Lease 
rentals receivable are apportioned between:  

 a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, applied to write down the 
lease debtor (together with any premiums received), and  

 finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).  
 

Operating leases. 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased 
property, plant or equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
lease, even where this may not match the pattern of payments.  
 
Where the Council grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or 
equipment, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income credits are made to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. where there is a premium 
paid at the commencement of the lease).  
 
Non current assets held for sale 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continued use, the asset is reclassified as Held 
for Sale. This is when the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject 
to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such assets, and when the sale is highly 
probable (the appropriate level of management must be committed to the sale, and an active  
programme to locate a buyer for the asset at a fair value must have been initiated with the 
sale being expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year).   
 
The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification, and then carried at the lower of this 
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value 
less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the other operating expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only 
up to the amount of any previous losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services.  
 
Gains and losses on disposal are included under other operating expenditure, and any 
revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the 
Capital Adjustment Account. Such charges are not permitted by statutory arrangements to 
have an impact on the General Fund Balance. Therefore these gains and losses are reversed 
out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement, and posted to the 
Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10k) the Capital 
Receipts Reserve. 
 
Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale. 
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are 
reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount 
before they were classified as held for sale (adjusted for any depreciation or revaluations that 
would have been recognised had they not been classified as Held for Sale), and their 
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recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell. Assets that are to be abandoned or 
scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale.  
 
Overheads / Support Service Costs 
The principle of total absorption costing has been applied in compliance with the Service 
Accounting Code of Practice (SerCOP). Support service costs have been fully charged to 
service revenue accounts, trading operations and capital accounts using a combination of 
time allocations and unit costs. The full cost of overheads and support services are therefore 
shared between users in proportion to the benefits received. 
 
SerCOP excludes from the principle of total absorption costing specific items of expenditure 
comprising the Corporate and Democratic Core (costs relating to the Council’s status as a 
multi-functional democratic organisation), and Non Distributable Costs (principally certain 
IAS19 accounting entries relating to pensions). These costs are not charged to services, and 
are disclosed separately on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as part of net cost of services. 
 
Private Finance Initiative 
PFI contracts are agreements with private sector operators to construct or enhance property 
used to provide public services and to operate and maintain that property for a specified 
period of time. The operator is paid for its services over the period of the arrangement. Such 
arrangements are accounted for in line with IFRIC12 Service Concession Arrangements. 
 
IFRIC12 specifies that properties used to provide services under PFI contracts should be 
recognised as an asset by whichever party exercises control over the property in terms of 
stipulating the services provided, and any residual interest. As the Council is deemed to 
control the services that are provided under its 5 school PFI scheme, and as ownership of the 
property, plant and equipment (other than for schools which convert to academies) will pass 
to the Council at the end of the contract for no additional charge, the Council carries the 
assets used under the contracts on its Balance Sheet as part of Property, Plant and 
Equipment.  
 
Assets and liabilities 
The school buildings are recognised as assets of the Council together with a liability to pay 
future rentals. These assets are then treated like any other Council assets in accordance with 
the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment, i.e. they are subject to annual 
depreciation and regularly revalued so that the carrying amount included in the Balance 
Sheet is at current value. The liability is written down annually over the period of the contract 
by the amount of the unitary charge recognised for this purpose.  
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement entries 
Each year, the Council pays the operator an agreed unitary charge for occupation of the 
premises and the service provided. This unitary charge is broken down into 3 parts based on 
the current value of the property involved and estimated service element costs. The current 
value of the property is the amount initially recognised on the Balance Sheet together with an 
offsetting liability. This is accounted for as a finance lease, with part of the unitary charge 
therefore being recognised as a repayment of the liability, and part being the associated 
interest cost based on the rate implicit in the lease. The rest of the unitary charge reflects the 
cost of the services provided.  
 
Service costs are included within the net cost of services figure in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. Interest costs are included in the financing and investment 
income and expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The 
principal element is applied to write down the liability towards the PFI operator on the Balance 
Sheet.  
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In accordance with statutory requirements, revenue provision has to be made towards the 
reduction of the borrowing requirement relating to this transaction. In line with the revised 
policy for such provision, this charge is based on the asset life and, being written off over this 
longer period, is different from the amount notionally calculated as the principal repayment of 
the liability which is based on the (shorter) lease term.  
 
The Council also receives an annual revenue grant towards the above costs. Grant 
equivalent to the interest charge is recognised as non specific grant income in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. All remaining grant is included in net 
cost of services. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
Physical assets that are controlled or held on a continuing basis for use in the provision of 
services or for administrative purposes are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment 
(PPE). 
 
Recognition  
Expenditure in excess of £10k on the acquisition or creation of, or which adds to an asset is 
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits 
or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council for periods in excess of 
one year, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but 
does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits or service potential 
(i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred.  
 
Measurement  
Capital expenditure is recognised initially at cost, comprising all expenditure that is directly 
attributable to bringing an asset into working condition for its intended use. All acquired and 
newly created assets, and assets which have had significant enhancement works completed 
during the year have been formally revalued. All other capital expenditure has been added to 
property, plant and equipment at cost until such time as the asset is revalued as part of the 5 
year rolling programme.  
 
Assets in major classes are reviewed each year to assess whether there are any indications 
of material change in value. Increases in valuations are recognised as unrealised gains in the 
revaluation reserve (or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
where they arise from the reversal of an impairment or revaluation loss previously charged to 
a service revenue account). The revaluation reserve contains revaluation gains recognised 
since 1st April 2007, the date of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have 
been consolidated into the capital adjustment account. Where decreases in value are 
identified, they are written down against any balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the 
Revaluation Reserve, and then to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Assets are assessed at each year-end for indications of material impairment. Where 
indications exist, impairment losses are recognised and accounted for in the same way as 
revaluation losses. 
 
Assets are included in the Balance Sheet as follows: - 

 Operational property, plant, and equipment have been included in the Balance Sheet at 
current value – a measurement reflecting the economic environment prevailing for the 
service or function the asset is supporting at the reporting date. Measurement bases 
include: -  

 Existing use value for assets providing service potential where an active market 
exists (e.g. offices) 

 Depreciated replacement cost for specialised properties for which no market 
evidence exists (e.g. schools and sports facilities);  
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 Depreciated historical cost (as a proxy for current cost) for items of plant, vehicles 
and equipment which are short lived and of relatively low value, and for 
infrastructure assets (e.g. highways and bridges);  

 Historical cost for assets under construction and community assets (e.g. parks), but 
these are assessed for impairment and depreciated as appropriate. 

 Fair value for surplus assets. These are assets which are not currently operational, 
but which do not yet meet the criteria to be classed as held for sale or investment 
properties. Such assets might, for example, be currently held vacant pending future 
use. They are valued at highest and best use from a market particpant’s 
perspective. 

 
Depreciation  
With the exceptions of land (unless it has a finite life), buildings under construction, and 
community assets (unless specifically appropriate), all items of property, plant and equipment 
are depreciated over their useful economic lives. Depreciation is calculated by writing off the 
valuation of the asset less estimated residual value over the useful life of the asset. Asset 
lives are provided by the valuers on an individual basis, but in general: - 

 Buildings have been depreciated on a straight line basis over various periods (e.g. 
public conveniences – 10 years; schools, swimming baths, sports centres, museums – 
30 years; car parks, libraries – 50 years). 

 Infrastructure assets have been depreciated on a straight line basis over 25 years.  
 Plant, Vehicles and Equipment have been depreciated on a straight line basis over 

periods of between 5 and 15 years. 
 

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment has a major component whose cost is 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item and whose asset life is significantly different 
from the life of the asset to which it is attached, the component is separately identified and 
depreciated.  
 
Depreciation charges are made to service revenue accounts. However, under statute, the 
charge to be met by council taxpayers for property, plant and equipment is the minimum 
revenue provision. There are reversing entries within the movement in reserves statement 
taking out depreciation charges and replacing these with the minimum revenue provision. 
These entries are charged to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between 
current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been 
chargeable based on their historical cost, being transferred each year from the Revaluation 
Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
Disposals 
On disposal, the net book value of an asset is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, and the receipt is credited to 
the same line. This shows the gain or loss on disposal. Any remaining balances relating to 
the asset in the revaluation reserve are transferred to the capital adjustment account.  
 
Since the costs of fixed assets have already been provided for under separate capital 
accounting arrangements, the costs of any write offs are not charges against council tax. 
Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance 
in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
Receipts in excess of £10k are categorised as capital receipts and are required to be credited 
to the usable capital receipts reserve. As these are credited in the first instance to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, receipts are appropriated to the reserve 
from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. The usable capital 
receipts reserve can be used to redeem debt or finance capital expenditure. 
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The Council’s policy is to pool all capital receipts (unless specific application is made) and to 
reinvest them in the capital programme. Where the receipt arises from the sale of a revenue 
earning asset, a specific decision is taken as to whether or not to use that receipt to redeem 
debt (to minimise the impact of the sale on the revenue account) rather than reinvesting it in 
the capital programme.  
 
Provisions 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council a legal or 
constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provision is also made 
where there are many similar obligations which in isolation depend on some future decision 
or judgment and would not therefore be considered a provision, but for which cumulatively 
there is evidence to suggest that a proportion of such obligations are likely to be settled and 
therefore a reliable estimate can be made. Provisions are charged as an expense to an 
appropriate revenue account in the year in which the Council becomes aware of the 
obligation, and all provisions are reviewed annually and adjusted to reflect the best estimate 
at the balance sheet date of the anticipated expenditure required to settle the obligation. 
When expenditure is incurred to which the provision relates, it is charged to the provision 
carried in the Balance Sheet.  
 
Impairment of assets 
Assets are assessed at each year end for evidence of impairment to ensure that they are 
carried at no more than their recoverable amount. The main asset categories are assessed 
for impairment in line with the requirements of specific accounting standards for property, 
plant and equipment, and financial instruments.  

 Property, plant and equipment (PPE) assets and heritage assets are assessed in 
accordance with the policy for accounting for PPE assets. Impairments are written off 
against any revaluation gains attributable to the relevant assets, with any excess 
being charged to the relevant service revenue account. Impairments of investment 
properties and held for sale assets are written off to specific lines within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 Financial assets are assessed annually for impairment in accordance with the policy 
for accounting for financial assets. Losses are recognised if there is objective 
evidence of impairment of a financial asset or group of assets, or if past history 
suggests that the sums likely to be realised are lower than the carrying value. 
Impairments are recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  
 

Earmarked Reserves 
Earmarked reserves are funds set aside at the discretion of either the Council or individual 
service departments for future policy purposes, contingencies, or to meet future items of 
revenue or capital expenditure. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of 
General Fund balances in the Movement in Reserves Statement and so count against council 
tax when set aside. Expenditure funded from reserves is charged directly in the year it is 
incurred to service revenue accounts in the surplus/deficit on the provision of services. The 
reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement so that there is then no net charge against council tax for the 
expenditure. 
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the differences in timing between statutory recognition 
and the accounting treatment of non-current assets, financial instruments, retirement and 
employee benefits. These are not usable resources for the Council (the movements on these 
reserves are explained in note 32). 

 
 
 
 



  Disclosure Notes  
                                                                                                                                  Accounting Policies 

 

76 

Revenue expenditure financed by capital under statute (REFCUS) 
REFCUS is expenditure on assets not owned by the Council but which is allowed to be 
capitalised under statutory provisions. It does not give rise to assets which can be controlled 
by the Council. Examples include grants given to third parties for capital purposes, 
expenditure on private sector housing renewal, or on schools not in Council ownership. There 
is no on-going controlling benefit to the Council of such expenditure, and so it is charged to 
the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the 
year.  
 
As this expenditure can be met from capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment 
Account reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact on the level of council 
tax.  
 
Schools 
Where the balance of control of maintained schools is adjudged to lie with the Council, the 
school buildings are deemed to be those of the Council and accounted for like other Council 
held fixed assets. The Code stipulates that the other assets, liabilities, reserves and cash 
flows of all maintained schools are recognised not in group accounts but in the Council’s 
single entity accounts, as if they were the transactions, cash flows and balances of the 
Council. 
 
Value Added Tax 
Income and expenditure are reported exclusive of VAT as all VAT collected is payable to HM 
Revenue and Customs, and all VAT paid is recoverable from them. VAT is therefore only 
included in service income and expenditure to the extent that it is irrecoverable, or has been 
recovered retrospectively from amounts paid over in previous years.  
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SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS 

The Collection Fund 

This account reflects the statutory requirements for billing authorities to maintain a separate 
collection fund to account for the income from council tax and business rates. The statement 
shows the transactions of the billing authority in relation to the collection from taxpayers and 
distribution to the Council (including parish councils), the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
West Yorkshire, the West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority and Central Government. The 
balance on this fund is shared between the Council, the Government and the other 
preceptors. That element due to the Council is incorporated into the Council’s Balance Sheet. 
The balance due to/from the Government and other preceptors is included in creditors and 
debtors. 
 

Council 
Tax

Business 
Rates

2014/15 2015/16 Council 
Tax

Business 
Rates

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

   INCOME
86,615 86,615    Billed to Council Taxpayers 88,271 88,271

0 0    Business rates transitional relief received 495 0 495
60,690 60,690    Non-Domestic Rates income (net of interest on refunds) 57,970 57,970

0 1385 1,385    Contributions towards previous year's collection fund deficit 0 0
86,615 62,075 148,690    TOTAL INCOME 146,736 88,271 58,465

   EXPENDITURE
   Precepts and Demands

72,869 28,667 101,536    Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council 102,222 73,450 28,772
7,997 7,997    Police and Crime Commissioner for West Yorkshire 8,221 8,221
3,321 585 3,906    West Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Authority 4,002 3,415 587

113,439 114,445
   Business Rates

29,252 29,252    Payment to Government 29,359 29,359
120 120    Business rates transitional relief paid over 0

   Disregarded business rate income due to renewable energy 298 298
354 354    Cost of Collection 355 355

29,726 30,012
   Impairment of debts and appeals

997 2,142 3,139    Write offs of uncollectable amounts 1,604 1,612 -8
-227 -471 -698    Allowance for impairment of collectable amounts 36 -702 738

1,410 1,410    Allowance for losses on appeal 875 875
3,851 2,515

   Contributions
829 0 829    From previous year's collection fund surplus 1,584 867 717

85,786 62,059 147,845    TOTAL EXPENDITURE 148,556 86,863 61,693

829 16 845    MOVEMENT ON FUND BALANCE IN YEAR -1,820 1,408 -3,228

1,247 -1,234 13    OPENING FUND SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) AT 1ST APRIL 858 2,076 -1218

2,076 -1,218 858    CLOSING FUND SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) AT 31ST MARCH -962 3,484 -4,446

COLLECTION FUND
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Notes to the Collection Fund 

 
1. Business Rates 
 
Income from business rates 2015/16 
 
Under statutory arrangements business rates, based on a rate poundage determined 
nationally by the Government and applied to rateable values determined by Revenue and 
Customs, are collected locally by the Council.  The rate specified by the Government for 
2015/16 was 49.3p. In 2015/16, the gross amount collectable net of refunds was £57.970m, 
based on a non domestic rateable value at the 31st March 2016 of £157,814,160.  
 
Under the business rates retention scheme introduced in April 2013, business rate income is 
shared between Central Government (50%), the Council (49%) and the West Yorkshire Fire 
and Rescue Authority (1%). The total business rate shares of £58.718m payable in 15/16 is 
estimated before the start of the year. The Council shares directly in the risks and benefits of 
business rate collection. There is a general risk of non-collection for which there is a provision 
of £3.533m. There are also potential losses on appeal which is estimated at £4.537m for 
appeals as at 31st March 2016. 
 
Business Rates deficit as at 31st March 2016. 
 
At the year end, the business rates collection fund can be in surplus or deficit dependent on 
collection rates or the level of revaluations etc. At the 31st March 2016, business rates within 
the Collection Fund had a deficit of £4.446m. This deficit is shared proportionately between 
the Council, Central Government and West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority. The 
Council’s share of this deficit, £2.179m, is included on the Balance Sheet in the collection 
fund adjustment account.  
 
 
2. Council Tax 

 
Council Tax surplus at 31st March 2016 
 
The Council and the other precepting authorities (Police and Crime Commissioner for West 
Yorkshire and the West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority) draw on the Collection Fund to 
finance their net revenue expenditure. At the year end, the Collection Fund can be in surplus 
or deficit dependent on collection rates or the level of revaluations etc. At the 31st March 
2016, the Collection Fund had a surplus of £3.484m. This surplus is shared proportionately 
between the precepting authorities. The Council’s share of this surplus, £3.009m, is included 
on the Balance Sheet in the collection fund adjustment account. 
 
Calculation of Council Tax Base 2015/16 
 
In accordance with Section 67(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, the Council Tax 
base was approved by the Council on 12th January 2015. The amount calculated as 
Calderdale’s Council Tax base for 2015/16 (allowing for a 97.5% collection rate), was as 
follows:- 
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Band
Number of 
dwellings

Proportion of 
band D tax

2013/14 band D 
equivalent

 A- 44.75                    5/9 24.87                   
A 28,343.00              6/9 18,895.34             
B 14,341.00              7/9 11,154.10             
C 12,983.00              8/9 11,540.44             
D 6,475.75                9/9 6,475.75               
E 4,839.25               11/9 5,914.64               
F 2,609.50               13/9 3,769.28               
G 1,185.50               15/9 1,975.83               
H 35.50                   18/9 71.00                   

70,857.25             59,821.25             
Less allowance for non-collection -1,495.54 
Council tax base - band D equivalent 58,325.71              
 
The total Council Tax requirement in 2015/16 (including Parishes, Police and Fire Authorities) 
was £85.086m. The Council Tax at band D equivalent was set at £1,458.80 for 2 adults and 
£1,094.10 for one adult.  
 
Bad Debts Provision 
 
The total bad debt provision for Council Tax as at 31 March 2016 was £4.652m (£5.354m in 
2014/15). 
 
 
  
3. Payments to precepting bodies 
 
The Collection Fund made the following payments during the year:- 
 

Share of Share of
Precept surplus / Payments Precept surplus / Payments
2014/15 (deficit) made    Payments made to Government / precepting bodies 2015/16 (deficit) made

£m £m £m    Council Tax £m £m £m
72.869 0.719 73.588    Calderdale MBC 73.450 0.751 74.201
7.997 0.077 8.074    Police and Crime Commissioner for West Yorkshire 8.221 0.082 8.303
3.321 0.033 3.354    West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority 3.415 0.034 3.449

84.187 0.829 85.016 85.086 0.867 85.953
   Business Rates

28.667 -0.679 27.988    Calderdale MBC 28.772 0.351 29.123
29.252 -0.692 28.560    Central Government 29.359 0.359 29.718
0.585 -0.014 0.571    West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority 0.587 0.007 0.594

58.504 -1.385 57.119 58.718 0.717 59.435
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Statement of Responsibilities for the 
Statement of Accounts 

The Council’s Responsibilities. 

The Council is required to: 
 make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure 

that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In 
this Council, that officer is the Head of Finance; 

 manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and to 
safeguard its assets; 

 approve the statement of accounts. 
 
 

The Head of Finance’s responsibilities. 
 

The Head of Finance is responsible for the preparation of the Council’s statement of accounts 
in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (‘the Code’).  
 
In preparing this statement of accounts, the Head of Finance has: 

 selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 
 made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; and 
 complied with the local authority Code. 

 
The Head of Finance has also: 

 kept proper accounting records which were up-to-date; and 
 taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities. 
 
 

Certification of Accounts: 
 
I certify that the Statement of Accounts 
presents a true and fair view of the position 
of Calderdale Metropolitan Borough 
Council as at the 31st March 2016 and its 
income and expenditure for the year then 
ended. 
 
 
 

 
 
N Broadbent CPFA 
Head of Finance 
 
26 September 2016 
 

 
 
I confirm that these accounts were 
approved by the Audit Committee on the 
19th September 2016. Signed by the chair 
of the meeting on behalf of Calderdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cllr S Baines 
Chair of Audit Committee. 
 
19 September 2016 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO 
THE MEMBERS OF CALDERDALE 

METRPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Opinion on the Council’s financial statements 

We have audited the financial statements of Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council for the 
year ended 31 March 2016 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The financial 
statements comprise the: 

 Authority Movement in Reserves Statement,  
 Authority Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement,  
 Authority Balance Sheet,  
 Authority Cash Flow Statement,  
 Collection Fund and the related notes. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2015/16. 

This report is made solely to the members of Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council, as a 
body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and for no 
other purpose, as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and 
Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council 
and the Council’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of the Head of Finance and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Head of Finance’s Responsibilities set out on 
page 80, the Head of Finance is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, 
which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2015/16, and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to 
audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Authority’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the Head of Finance; and the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the 
Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2016 to identify material inconsistencies 
with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in 
the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 
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Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of Calderdale Metropolitan Borough 
Council as at 31 March 2016 and of its expenditure and income for the year then 
ended; and 

 have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16. 

Opinion on other matters 

In our opinion, the information given in the Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 
March 2016 for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent 
with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we report by exception 

We report to you if: 

 in our opinion the annual governance statement is misleading or inconsistent with 
other information forthcoming from the audit or our knowledge of the Council; 

 we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; 

 we make written recommendations to the audited body under Section 24 of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014;  

 we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is 
contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; 

 we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014; or 

 we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. 

We have nothing to report in these respects.  

Conclusion on Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources 

Authority’s responsibilities  

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and 
governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.  

Auditor’s responsibilities  

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to 
satisfy ourselves that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the 
National Audit Office (NAO) requires us to report to you our conclusion relating to proper 
arrangements.  
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We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding 
that the Authority has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether all aspects of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.  

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard 
to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General 
(C&AG) in November 2015, as to whether the Council had proper arrangements to ensure it 
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable 
outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined 
this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in 
satisfying ourselves whether the Council put in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 
2016. 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on 
whether, in all significant respects, the Council had put in place proper arrangements to 
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the C&AG in November 
2015, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, Calderdale Metropolitan Borough 
Council put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2016.  

Certificate 

Delay in certification of completion of the audit  

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate until we have completed 
the work necessary to issue our assurance statement in respect of the Authority’s Whole of 
Government Accounts consolidation pack. We are satisfied that this work does not have a 
material effect on the financial statements or on our value for money conclusion. 

Until we have completed these procedures we are unable to certify that we have completed 
the audit of the accounts in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office. 

 

Hassan Rohimun (senior statutory auditor) 
 
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Appointed Auditor 
 
Manchester 

 

27th September 2016
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Glossary 

Accounting Policies The principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied to 
specify how the effects of transactions and other events are to be reflected in the financial 
statements through recognising, measuring and presenting assets, liabilities, gains, losses 
and changes to reserves. 
 
Accruals The concept that income and expenditure is accounted for as earned or incurred, 
not as money received or paid. 

Actuarial Gains and Losses For a defined benefit pension scheme, the changes in actuarial 
deficits or surpluses that arise because: 

a) events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last 
valuation (experience gains and losses); or 

b) the actuarial assumptions (financial and demographic) have changed. 
 
Balances The accumulated surplus on the Council’s General Fund. 

Capital Expenditure Expenditure on the acquisition or creation of a fixed asset, or 
expenditure which adds to and not merely maintains the value of an existing asset. 

Capital Receipts Proceeds from the sale of capital assets such as land and buildings. Such 
receipts can be used to repay debt or to finance new capital expenditure.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents Cash, deposits or investments readily convertible to known 
amounts with no risk of change in value or penalty charge. 
 
Collection Fund A statutory account maintained by the Council to account separately for the 
collection and distribution of council tax and non domestic rates. The Government, the Police 
and Crime Commissioner for West Yorkshire, the West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority 
and the Council’s General Fund all make demands upon this fund to help pay for running 
their services throughout the year. Any surpluses or deficits on this fund are borne in 
prescribed shares by the Government and the 3 precepting authorities. 
 
Community Assets These are assets that the Council intends to hold forever and which 
have an indeterminable useful life. There may be restrictions on their disposal. Examples 
include parks and cemetery land. 
 
Consistency The concept that the accounting treatment of like items within an accounting 
period and from one period to the next should be the same. 

Constructive Obligation An obligation that derives from a Council’s actions where: 

a) by an established pattern of past practice, published policies or a sufficiently 
specific current statement, the Council has indicated to other parties that it will 
accept certain responsibilities; and 

b) as a result, the Council has created a valid expectation on the part of those other 
parties that it will discharge those responsibilities. 

 
Contingent Liability A condition that exists at the balance sheet date which may arise in the 
future dependent on the occurrence, or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Council. 
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Council Tax This is a banded property tax that is levied on domestic properties throughout 
the Borough. The banding is based on estimated property values as at 1st April 1991. 
 
Creditors An amount owed by the Council for work done, goods received or services 
rendered, but for which payment has not been made at the end of the year. 
 
Current Service Cost (Pensions) For a defined benefit scheme, the value of the pension 
benefits earned by active employees in the period, net of the contributions paid by employees 
in respect of those benefits.   
 
Current Value  The basis for valuing operational fixed assets. The valuation recognises 
service potential and the economic environment prevailing for that service at the 
measurement date. Current value measurement bases include existing use, depreciated 
replacement cost and depreciated historical cost. 

Curtailment For a defined benefit scheme, an event that reduces the expected years of 
future service of present employees or reduces for a number of employees the accrual of 
defined benefits for some or all of their future service. Curtailments include: 

a) termination of employees’ services earlier than expected, for example as a result of 
discontinuing a service activity; and 

b) termination of, or amendment to the terms of, a defined benefit scheme so that some 
or all future service by current employees will no longer qualify for benefits or will 
qualify only for reduced benefits. 

 
Debtors Sums of money owed to the Council but not received at the end of the year. 

Defined Benefit Scheme A pension or other retirement benefit scheme other than a defined 
contribution scheme. Usually, the scheme rules define the benefits independently of the 
contributions payable, and the benefits are not directly related to the investments of the 
scheme. The scheme may be funded or unfunded (including notionally funded). 

Defined Contribution Scheme A pension or other retirement benefit scheme into which an 
employer pays regular contributions fixed as an amount or as a percentage of pay and will 
have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the scheme does not 
have sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current 
and prior periods. 

Depreciation  A charge to service revenue accounts reflecting the wearing out, consumption, 
or other reduction in the economic life of a fixed asset, whether arising from use, passage of 
time or obsolescence through technological or other changes. 

Discretionary Benefits Retirement benefits awarded at the discretion of the Council and 
which there are no legal, contractual or constructive obligations to pay. 
 
Earmarked Reserve A sum set aside for a specific purpose to meet expected future 
expenditure. 
 
Fair Value The price to sell an asset or transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. 

Finance Lease A method of acquiring or disposing of fixed assets where under the lease 
agreement all the risks and rewards of ownership of a fixed asset are substantially transferred 
to the occupier in return for rental payments to the legal owner of the asset. 

Financial Asset  A financial instrument such as bank deposits, investments, loan 
receivables, trade debtors and other receivables. 
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Financial Instrument  A contract giving rise to a financial asset in one entity, and a financial 
liability or equity instrument in another. 
 
Financial Liability  A financial instrument such as borrowings, bank overdraft, financial 
guarantees, trade creditors and other payables. 
 
General Fund The total services of the Council (except for the Collection Fund), the net cost 
of which is met by council tax, retained business rates and Government grants. 
 
Government Grants Specific assistance by Government and inter-government agencies and 
similar bodies, whether local, national or international, in the form of cash or transfers of 
assets to a Council. Sometimes, there is expected to be compliance with certain conditions 
relating to the activities of the Council but many grants provided are “general” rather than 
service specific, and are used to help pay for the net cost of Council services generally. 
 
Gross Book Value For assets valued at current value, the current value determined by the 
valuer in line with valuation principles excluding any provision made for cumulative 
depreciation. For assets valued at historical cost, the historical cost of those assets excluding 
any provision made for cumulative depreciation.  
 
Held for sale assets A held for sale asset is an asset available for immediate sale with an 
active programme to locate a buyer for the asset, being actively marketed for sale at a 
reasonable price in relation to its fair value, and for which a sale is highly probable. 
 
Heritage Assets Heritage assets are those assets held for their historical, artistic, scientific, 
technological, geophysical or environmental qualities and are held and maintained for future 
generations for their contribution to knowledge and culture rather than for any operational 
benefit. They include historical buildings, decorative structures, civic regalia, museum 
collections and works of art. 

Impairment  A reduction in the value of a fixed asset below its carrying amount on the 
Balance Sheet. 

Infrastructure Assets  These are assets such as highways, footpaths, bridges and drainage 
facilities. Benefit can be obtained only by continued use of the asset created. 
 
Interest on the net defined pension liability For a defined benefit scheme, a charge based 
on the net liability of the scheme multiplied by the discount rate at the start of the period. It 
reflects the net effect of the expected increase during the period in the present value of the 
scheme liabilities because the benefits are one period closer to settlement, and an amount for 
interest earned on fund assets. 
 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) International Financial Reporting 
Standards are accounting standards developed by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) to promote a single set of high quality global accounting standards.  
 
Investment Properties Properties held solely to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, and 
not used to provide services or for administrative purposes. 
 
Liabilities  Amounts due to individuals or organisations which will have to be paid at some 
time in the future. Current liabilities are usually payable within one year of the balance sheet 
date. 
 
Liquid Resources   Current asset investments that are readily disposable by the Council 
without disrupting its business and are either of fixed, short term duration readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash at or close to the carrying amount, or traded in an active market. 
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Materiality An item is material if its omission, non-disclosure or mis-statement in the financial 
statements could be expected to lead to a distortion of the view given by the financial 
statements. 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision This is the minimum amount chargeable under statutory 
regulations each year to the Council’s revenue account to provide for the repayment of loans 
used to finance capital expenditure. 

Net Book Value The amount at which fixed assets are included in the Balance Sheet, i.e.  
their current value or historical cost less the cumulative amounts provided for depreciation. 

Net Current Replacement Cost  The cost of replacing or recreating an asset in its existing 
condition and in its existing use. 
 
Net Realisable Value  The open market value of an asset in its existing use less any 
expenses incurred in realising the asset. 

Non-Domestic Rates These are often referred to as business rates. An NDR poundage is 
set annually by the Government to be levied on the defined rateable value of business 
properties determined by the Valuation Agency Office. This is the sum to be collected by local 
authorities and shared with the fire authority and Central Government after deduction of 
specific costs. These transactions are accounted for within the Collection Fund. The Council 
draws down from this fund an amount specified at the start of the year. 
 
Operating Lease An agreement in which the use of an asset is derived in exchange for 
rental payments, but where the risks and rewards of ownership are not substantially all 
transferred. 

Past Service Cost  For a defined benefit scheme, the increase in the present value of the 
scheme liabilities related to employee service in prior periods arising in the current period as 
a result of the introduction of, or changes to, retirement benefits. 

Precept The payment demanded from the Collection Fund by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for West Yorkshire, the West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority and the 
Council’s General Fund in relation to council tax. It is collected and distributed on behalf of all 
precepting authorities by the Council. These transactions are accounted for within the 
Collection Fund. 
 
Prior Period Adjustments Those adjustments applicable to prior years arising from changes 
in accounting policies or from the correction of material errors. They do not include normal 
recurring corrections or adjustments of accounting estimates made in prior years. 
 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) A Government initiative which enables authorities to carry 
out capital projects through partnership with the private sector, which then typically operates 
and maintains the property for a specified period of time in return for annual “unitary charge” 
payments. 
 

Projected Unit Method    An accrued valuation method in which pension scheme liabilities 
make allowance for projected earnings.  An accrued benefits valuation method is a valuation 
method in which the scheme liabilities at the valuation date relate to; 

a) the benefits for pensioners and deferred pensioners (i.e. individuals who have ceased 
to be active members but are entitled to benefits payable at a later date) and their 
dependants, allowing where appropriate for future increases, and 

b) the accrued benefits for members in service on the valuation date. 
 
The accrued benefits are the benefits for service up to a given point in time, whether vested 
rights or not.  Guidance on the projected unit method is given in the Guidance Note GN26 
issued by the Faculty and Institute of Actuaries. 
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Property, Plant and Equipment   These are fixed assets such as land, buildings, and 
vehicles which yield benefits to the Council for more than one year and which are controlled, 
held, occupied, used or consumed in the direct delivery or administration of those services for 
which the Council has responsibility. 
 
Prudence  The concept that revenue is not anticipated but is recognised only when realised 
in the form either of cash or of other assets the ultimate realisation of which can be assessed 
with reasonable certainty. 
 
Public Works Loan Board  This is a Government agency that provides loans to authorities 
at favourable rates. The Council can borrow from this source to fund its borrowing 
requirements. 
 
REFCUS (Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute) Expenditure that is 
properly capitalised but does not result in, or remain matched with, tangible assets. Examples 
of refcus are expenditure on items such as grants for home adaptations or to businesses or 
other third parties for capital works.  
 
Remeasurement of net defined liability (pensions) The movement in the value of the 
liabilities and assets of a defined benefit pension scheme due to gains and losses derived by 
actuarial revision of assumptions, and actual experience differing from previous actuarial 
assumptions made. These actuarial gains and losses are included in other comprehensive 
income and expenditure. 
 
Remuneration  All sums paid to or receivable by an employee, and sums due by way of 
expenses allowances (as far as these are chargeable to UK income tax) and the money value 
of any other benefits received other than in cash. Pension contributions payable by the 
employer are excluded. 
 
Residual Value The net realisable value of an asset at the end of its useful life. Residual 
values are based on current prices prevailing at the balance sheet date taking into account 
the expected age and condition at the end of the asset’s useful life.  
 
Retirement Benefits All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for 
services rendered by employees that are payable after the completion of employment. 
Retirement benefits do not include termination benefits payable as a result of either (i) an 
employer’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement 
date or (ii) an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those 
benefits, because these are not given in exchange for services rendered by employees. 
 
Revenue Expenditure  The day to day running costs incurred in providing Council services 
(e.g. employee costs, supplies and services). 
 
Scheme Liabilities The liabilities of a defined benefit scheme for outgoings due after the 
valuation date. Scheme liabilities measured using the projected unit method reflect the 
benefits that the employer is committed to provide for service up to the valuation date. 

Settlement An irrevocable action that relieves the employer (or the defined benefit scheme) 
of the primary responsibility for a pension obligation and eliminates significant risks relating to 
the obligation and the assets used to effect the settlement. Settlements include: 

a) lump-sum cash payments to scheme members in exchange for their rights to receive 
specified pension benefits; 

b) the purchase of an irrevocable annuity contract sufficient to cover vested benefits; and  
c) the transfer of scheme assets and liabilities relating to a group of employees leaving 

the scheme. 
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Support Service Charges Charges to service departments for services provided centrally 
(e.g. Finance, ICT, HR, Law and Administration etc.). The costs of support services are 
charged out in full to end users using a variety of bases reflecting the benefit of the services 
received. 
 
Surplus Assets These are assets that are not directly occupied, used or consumed in the 
delivery of services, or held specifically to earn rental income or for capital appreciation, and 
which do not meet the criteria to be classed as held for sale or investment properties. 
Examples include land of indeterminate use. 
 
Total Cost The total cost of a service or activity includes all costs which relate to the 
provision of the service (directly or bought in) or to the undertaking of the activity. Gross total 
cost includes employee costs, expenditure relating to premises and transport, supplies and 
services, third party payments, transfer payments, depreciation charges, and includes an 
appropriate share of all support services and overheads which need to be allocated or 
apportioned. 
 
Useful Life The period over which the Council will derive benefits from the use of a fixed 
asset. 

Vested Rights In relation to a defined benefit scheme, these are: - 

a) for active members, benefits to which they would unconditionally be entitled on 
leaving the scheme; 

b) for deferred pensioners, their preserved benefits; 
c) for pensioners, pensions to which they are entitled. 

 
Vested rights include, where appropriate, the related benefits for spouses or other 
dependents. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


